# **MASTER AGREEMENT**

Between the

New Haven Schools Education Association MEA/NEA/LOCAL 1

and the

New Haven Schools Board of Education

> 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Agreement	
Article 1, Recognition	. 1
Article 2, Grievance Procedure	. 1
Article 3, Membership, Fees and Payroll Deduction	. 5
Article 4, Association and Teacher Rights	. 8
Article 5, Board of Education Rights	. 11
Article 6, Teaching Conditions	. 12
Article 7, Paid Leaves of Absence	. 17
Article 8, Unpaid Leaves.	. 19
Article 9, Sabbatical Leave	. 22
Article 10, Vacancies and Assignments	. 27
Article 11, Teacher Evaluations	. 29
Article 12, Teacher Protection and Student Discipline	. 30
Article 13, Third Party Medical Decisions	. 32
Article 14, Special Teaching Assignments	. 32
Article 15, Fringe Benefits	. 32
Article 16, Staff Reductions	. 35
Article 17, Miscellaneous Provisions	. 38
Article 18, Calendar	. 44
Article 19, COLA, Salary Agreement, Salary Schedule	. 48
Article 20, Compensation - Special Assignment	. 53
Article 21, Communicable Disease	. 58

	Page
Article 22, Duration of Agreement	
Appendix A, Life Insurance	60
Appendix B, Letter of Understanding, Annexation,  Consolidation, Reorganization	62
Appendix C, Letter of Understanding, Posting/Appointing Coaches	63
Appendix D, Letter of Understanding, Schedule B	64
Appendix E, Letter of Understanding, Days and Hours of Instruction	65
Appendix F, Letter of Understanding, Plan to develop additional Section 125 programs	66
Appendix G, Letter of Understanding, NCLB and HOUSSE program	67

#### AGREEMENT

This Agreement entered into this <u>1ST</u> day of <u>SEPTEMBER 2008</u>, by and between the Board of Education of the New Haven Community Schools of New Haven, Michigan, hereinafter called the "Board", and MEA-NEA Local One, hereinafter called the "Association".

# ARTICLE 1: RECOGNITION

- A. The Board hereby recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining representative for the following: Certificated Personnel, Annually Authorized Vocational Education Teachers, and Social Workers. Excluding the following: Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent, Principals, Assistant Principals and other Administrative and Supervisory Personnel, further excluding teacher aides and per diem substitutes. The term "teacher", when used hereinafter in this Agreement, shall refer to all employees represented by the Association in the bargaining or negotiating unit as above defined. The term "Board" shall include its officers and agents.
- B. The Board agrees not to negotiate with any teachers' organization other than the Association for the duration of this Agreement.
- C. The rights granted herein to the Association shall not be granted or extended to any competing labor organization which represents teachers.
- D. Non-Discrimination: The Board and Association agree that all employment decisions will be made in a nondiscriminatory manner. No decision as to hiring, assignment, promotion, transfer, layoff, termination or reinstatement shall be made on the basis of age, sex, color, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, or disability. In the construction of words used in this agreement, whenever the female gender is used, it shall also be construed to include the male gender and vice versa.

# **ARTICLE 2: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

The Association or any teacher, believing there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement may file a grievance with the parties designated in the procedures outlined below. The Association can be present for all steps of the Grievance Procedure. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prevent any individual teacher from presenting a grievance and having the grievance adjusted without intervention of the Association, if the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, provided that the bargaining representative has been given opportunity to be present at such adjustment.

- A. All time herein shall consist of school days. Time limits may be extended upon good cause shown, or mutual consent of the parties. It is understood that the time limits set forth herein or agreed upon shall be considered as substantive. Failure by the grievant to conform to the time limits herein provided shall mean the grievance has been dropped. Failure by the Board or its representatives to conform to the time limits shall mean the grievance is automatically advanced to the next step.
- B. The Assistant Principal, Principal, Assistant Superintendent, Superintendent, or Secretary of the Board shall note date and time of day when grievance complaint is received by him/her. If a dispute shall arise as to date on which said appeal was taken, such notification shall be conclusive evidence of the date of its receipt.
- C. In the event a grievance is filed after May 15 of any year, and strict adherence to the time limits may result in hardship to any party, the Board shall use its best efforts to process such grievance prior to the end of the school term or as soon thereafter as possible. During summer recess, school days shall be counted as five (5) school days per calendar week.
- D. Grievances arising under this article shall be processed during non-teacher hours. For the purpose of this article, non-teacher hours shall mean the time before school begins for teachers and after school ends for teachers and during a teacher's lunch period as mutually agreed upon between the parties.

#### E. Informal Resolution

- 1. An individual teacher may discuss a potential grievance matter or situation with the school principal or assistant principal or immediate supervisor, during non-teacher hours (before and after duty times for teachers) or lunch periods as mutually agreed upon between the parties, for the purpose of resolving the matter informally. If requested, an Association representative may be present.
- 2. The Association may discuss matters involving the implementation and or interpretation of the contract with the Superintendent or Assistant Superintendent with the object of resolving potential problems informally.
- F. In the event the matter is a grievance and is not satisfactorily resolved, the following procedure shall be followed:
  - 1. Step One: Within ten (10) school days of the time the alleged grievance arises, it shall be stated in writing, signed by the grievant and submitted to the appropriate supervisor\* who could remedy the alleged grievance.

<sup>\*</sup>Appropriate supervisor means the supervisor most immediately involved with the grievance.

Such complaint shall be specific. It shall contain a concise statement of the facts upon which the grievance is based. It shall contain specific reference to the articles and sections of the Collective Bargaining Agreement which allegedly have been misinterpreted or violated, and it shall state the specific nature of the relief requested.

Within five (5) school days after receipt of the grievance, the supervisor shall give an answer in writing to the grievant and copies filed with the Association and the Board.

When the circumstances or conditions surrounding a by the Superintendent or the direct responsibility of the Superintendent, step one of the grievance procedure will begin with the Superintendent or his/her designee as the appropriate supervisor. If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, the grievance will immediately be continued to step three.

- 2. Step Two: In the event the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at step one, within five (5) school days from the date of receipt of the supervisor's answer, the grievant may appeal the grievance to the Superintendent or his/her designee. Such appeal shall be in writing. The aggrieved, his/her representatives, and the Superintendent or his/her designee shall hold a meeting to resolve the matter within ten (10) school days thereafter. Only the grievant and not more than three (3) representatives of the Association shall be present at such a meeting, unless otherwise agreed. Within five (5) school days of conclusion of the meeting, the Superintendent or his/her designee shall present the Association and grievant with a written answer to alleged grievance.
- 3. Step Three: Within ten (10) school days from the date of the receipt of the written answer of the Superintendent or his/her designee, the grievant or Association may appeal in writing, to the Board of Education. Filing of the appeal shall be complete when received by the Secretary of the Board. In no event, except with written consent of the aggrieved, shall a hearing before the Board involving any such grievance, be more than twenty (20) school days after receipt of said grievance.

A written statement disclosing the decision made, shall be furnished the aggrieved and copies filed with the Association within twenty-five (25) school days of the Board hearing.

4. Step Four: If the alleged grievance is not settled at step three, the matter may be appealed to arbitration, provided that notice to appeal the matter has been given to the Board within twenty-five (25) school days of the receipt of the Board's written decision in step three.

The parties involved will attempt to mutually agree upon an impartial arbitrator. Failure to agree upon an arbitrator within twenty (20) school days of notice to appeal will result in the selection of an arbitrator according to the rules of the American Arbitration Association. Only the Association or Board may take a grievance to arbitration.

#### a. Powers of the Arbitrator

It shall be the function of the Arbitrator, and the Arbitrator shall be empowered, except as the Arbitrator's powers are limited below, after due investigation, to make a decision in cases of alleged violation, misapplication or misinterpretation of the specific articles and sections of the Agreement.

- (1) The Arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter or modify any of the terms of this Agreement, nor may the Arbitrator imply abnormal obligations inconsistent with arbitration and educational laws upon either party of this Agreement.
- (2) The Arbitrator shall have no power to change any practice, policy or rule of the Board, except as these practices, policies or rules are in violation of this Contract. The Arbitrators powers shall be limited to deciding whether the Board has violated, misinterpreted or misapplied articles or sections of this Agreement.
- (3) Should either party dispute the arbitrability of any grievance under the terms of this Agreement, the Arbitrator shall first rule on the question of arbitrability. Should it be determined that the matter is not arbitrable, it shall be referred back to the parties without recommendation on its merits.
- (4) The Arbitrator shall have no power to establish salary schedules or change any wage established in this or previous contracts.

The Arbitrator shall have no powers to award back wages

which exceed the amount the grievant would have earned during the period of time the alleged violation was being processed.

(5) Any recommendation of the Arbitrator shall be binding upon the parties of the Agreement.

#### b. Arbitration Expenses

(1) The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Board and the Association. All other expenses shall be born by the party incurring them. Neither party shall be responsible for the expense of witnesses called by the other.

# ARTICLE 3, MEMBERSHIP, FEES AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

- A. All teachers in the bargaining unit, as a condition of continued employment shall on the sixtieth (60th) day following the beginning of the school year, beginning of their employment or the execution of this Master Agreement, whichever is later:
  - 1. Become members of the Association, or
  - 2. Pay a service fee, which is equivalent to the amount of dues, including New Haven Education Association, Local 1 MEA and NEA dues) uniformally required of members of the Association.

This requirement is a term and condition of employment and is incorporated in and is to be deemed a part of every contract of hire covering members of this bargaining unit.

B. If a member of the bargaining unit is not a member in good standing of the Association, or has failed or refused to pay the service fee provided for above, the Association shall promptly so advise the Board and the defaulting employee in writing. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notification, the Board shall notify the defaulting employee that his/her employment will be terminated at the end of that school year, unless the default is cured or the employee pays the service fee into an escrow account as provided below, within such thirty (30) day period.

Termination of any employee under this section shall relieve the employee from any obligation to pay service fees theretofore due and owing.

C. Any person paying a service fee pursuant to Section A of this article may file written objections to the expenditure by the Association (including the MEA or NEA) of funds collected from him or her, but challenge to such expenditures shall not relieve such person of the obligation of paying said service fee. Objections shall be filed in duplicate

with the President of the Association, no later than fifteen (15) days from the payment of the fee.

Any such objections or complaints shall not be subject to the grievance procedure provided for in Article II of this Agreement, but shall be processed pursuant to the internal review procedure established by the Michigan Education Association for all affiliated organizations pursuant to <u>Abood v Detroit Federation of Teachers</u>, 431 - US 209, 240 (1977). That procedure is set forth in the Policy Regarding Objections to Political-Ideological Expenditures, adopted June, 1978. The Association shall make copies of such policy and any amendments thereto, available upon request.

In the event an employee's objections to the payment of the service fee are not resolved by the end of a school year, and the dispute is pending before the Michigan Education Association Committee established to determine it, or any other forum of competent jurisdiction, then the employee shall not be terminated in accordance with this article. Provided, however, the employee has previously paid the service fee into an escrow account established under the procedures of the MEA (Regarding Objections to Political-Ideological Expenditures). As long as the employee continues to pay this service fee into the aforementioned escrow account, the teacher's employment shall not be terminated until the teacher has ceased to pursue the legal remedies available.

- D. The Association (including the MEA and NEA) agrees, upon request, to defend the Board of Education and its officers, agents, or employees in any suit brought against all or any of them regarding this article of the Master Agreement, and to indemnify the Board, its officers, agents, or employees and save them harmless from any and all claims, demands, awards, fees, costs, suits, lost wages or damages which may be imposed or assessed against all or any of them regarding this article of the Master Agreement, provided, however, that:
  - 1. The Association has the right to choose the legal counsel to defend any such suit or action, after consultation with the Board.
  - 2. If the Board, its officers, agents or employees elect/s to select its or their own counsel in any such suit, then the Association shall have no duty to indemnify those defendants it does not represent in the suit; provided, however, that if the Association, through counsel it selects after consultation with the Board, does represent the Board, its officers, agents or employees in such suit, such defendants may additionally hire their own counsel to assist in the defense of any such suit.
  - 3. The Association, in defense of any such suit, after consultation with the Board, has the right to decide whether to defend any said action or whether or not to appeal the decision of any court or other tribunal regarding the validity of this article, or in the alternative to indemnify the Board of Education as provided above.

4. The Association, in defense of any such suit, shall have the right to compromise or settle any monetary claim made against the Board, its officers, employees or agents under this section, after consultation with the Board.

For purposes of construing this article, the parties agree that the school district, the Board, its officers, agents or employees, be protected from any monetary loss as a result of the district enforcing the payment and collection of the service fee.

- E. The parties agree that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the remedies set forth in such policy shall be exclusive and that unless and until such procedures, including any judicial review thereof, shall have been availed of and exhausted, no dispute, claim or complaint by or among any party or person concerning the application and interpretation of this Article shall be subject to arbitration, administrative or judicial adjudication.
- F. The Board, pursuant to Public Act 390 of 1978 agrees to make deductions from the wages of each member of the bargaining unit for Association dues or service fees. The deduction of membership dues and assessments or service fees shall be scheduled with the payroll office by each teacher for ten (10) months beginning in September and ending in June each year.

Monies payable to the Association shall be remitted no later than ten (10) days following the deduction, accompanied by a list of teachers from whom the deductions have been made.

- G. Teachers may sign and deliver to the Board an authorization for voluntary deductions such as annuities, Teachers' Credit Union and insurance within thirty (30) days of the beginning of their employment.
  - 1. Annuities and Teachers' Credit Union shall be deducted each pay and remitted to the appropriate company.
  - 2. Insurance shall be deducted the second (2nd) pay of every month and remitted to the company designated by the parties.
  - 3. A United States Savings Bond Plan shall be provided for teachers.
  - 4. MEA-PAC/NEA-PAC Contributions will be deducted in accordance with Section F of this Article.

# ARTICLE 4: ASSOCIATION AND TEACHER RIGHTS

#### A. Association Rights

- 1. Pursuant to Act 379 of the Public Acts of 1965, the Board hereby agrees that every employee of the Board shall have the right freely to organize, join and support the Association for the purpose of engaging in collective bargaining or negotiations and other concerted activities for mutual aid and protection. As a duly elected body exercising governmental power under color of the law of the State of Michigan, the Board undertakes and agrees that it will not directly or indirectly discourage or deprive or coerce any teacher in the enjoyment of any rights conferred by Act 379 or other laws of Michigan or the Constitutions of Michigan or the United States; that it will not discriminate against any teacher with respect to hours, wages, or any terms or condition of employment by reason of his membership in the Association, his participation in any activities of the Association or collective professional negotiations with the Board or his institution of any grievance, complaint or proceeding under this Agreement or otherwise with respect to any terms or conditions of employment.
- 2. Use of School Facilities: The Executive Board of the Association and its members shall be allowed, upon administration approval, to use school equipment, exclusive of Board office equipment, calculating machines and all types of audio visual equipment, when such equipment is not otherwise in use.

The Association shall pay for the actual cost of all materials and supplies incidental to such use. Members using facilities for non-approved Association activities will be billed on an individual basis.

- a. The Association and its members have the right to use school building facilities by filing application at the Superintendent's Office.
  - 1. The Board shall retain all rights to regulate after hour use of its facilities.
  - 2. Each principal will be responsible for his building and the designation of meeting places within the building.
- b. The Association requests that the Board of Education allow the Association to use space to house its supplies, equipment, and to serve as a small meeting place, providing it does not interfere with the regular function of the school programs. Once assigned, the office shall be assured through the remainder of the school year. In the event such assigned facility is required by the Board of Education, the Board representative shall meet and review with the President of the Association with express purpose of determining if an alternate facility can be assigned.

3. The Association shall have the right to post notices of activities and matters of Association concern on teacher bulletin boards, at least one of which shall be provided in each school building. However, no material of a personal defamatory nature shall be posted.

Association representatives shall be permitted to meet with teachers to discuss grievances provided that this shall not interfere with or interrupt normal classroom sessions. If the matter is of an emergency nature or of such pressing need that an immediate meeting is necessary, then the Association Representative and the member are entitled to a private conference on the matter without undue delay, depending on the availability of a replacement and the urgency of the matter to be taken up.

- 4. In case of dispute the administration does not have the right to veto the request and nullify the process. In the final analysis, the Association right must prevail when insisted upon. If there is self-evident crisis, the principal or other alternate could cover a class when a relief teacher cannot be procured.
- 5. The Board agrees to furnish the Association, in response to specific requests, information, if available, concerning the financial resources of the District, tentative budgetary requirements and allocations and other such information as will assist the Association in developing intelligent, accurate, informed and constructive programs on behalf of the teachers and their students.
- 6. A teacher engaged during the school day in negotiating on behalf of the Association with any representative of the Board shall be released from regular duties without loss of salary.
- 7. A teacher who has been duly elected or appointed a delegate to the Representative Assembly or who has been duly elected to a State Commission of the MEA from Region 6, shall be released from regular teaching duties without loss of salary at least one (1) day each semester for the purpose of discharging duties of said office. The principal shall be notified in writing at least one (1) week in advance of the release time.

The Association will be granted a total of twenty (20) days per school year to send its officers to MEA or NEA meetings or conferences. Association days may accumulate to thirty (30) days.

Beginning with the 2009-10 school year, the President of the New Haven Education Association will be granted a maximum of twelve (12) association days during the school year for the purpose of transacting union business. During the 2010-2011 school year, this will be increased to fourteen (14) days. These days will not accumulate.

- 8. For purposes of implementation of this Article, the word "Association" shall refer to the New Haven teachers as a unit represented by MEA-NEA, Local 1.
- 9. The Association and the Board of Education will do what they can to avoid using students in matters directly involving the parties.

## B. Teacher Rights

- 1. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny or restrict any teacher rights he/she may have under the Michigan General School Laws or applicable Civil Service Laws and Regulations. The rights granted to teachers in this Agreement shall be deemed to be in addition to those provided under Michigan General School Laws or applicable Civil Service Laws.
- 2. The Board of Education appreciates the concern of the teachers in matters of curriculum improvements and will abide by Article V, Section 3 of the present contract, but will inform the teachers of the Board's action.
- 3. Teachers may be used for substitution purposes at the rate of Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) per period. Periods of substitution shall be included in the next scheduled pay period.

Teachers shall not be compelled to use their preparation period for substitution.

- 4. The Board agrees to attempt to supply substitute teachers for all absent teachers.
- 5. No High School or Middle School teacher shall have more than four (4) preparations.
- 6. Handicapped and Medically Fragile Students: When the Board determines that the severity of a handicap requires it, training will be provided to teachers receiving handicapped and medically fragile students. Teachers will not be required to administer tracheotomy, suctioning, clean intermittent catheterization or tube feeding to students.
- 7. School Improvement Plans: Participation by a teacher on any building or district's school improvement committee is voluntary. Teacher committee members will be chosen by the teachers in each building. Participation or non-participation on a building or district school improvement committee shall not be used as a criterion for negative evaluation. Recommendations made by any school improvement committee which might impact any part of the Master Agreement must be resolved as per Article XVII, Section K.
- 8. Any complaint made against a teacher by a parent, student, or other person which is being considered as the basis for a written reprimand, discipline or discharge of said teacher, will be promptly called to the attention of the teacher with the

- complaintant identified. Any complaint not called to the attention of the teacher may not be used as the basis for any written reprimand, discipline or discharge.
- 9. Academic freedom in teaching is recognized for all teachers who shall exercise such freedom within the framework of the curriculum and school policies. The teacher is expected to teach the students in the best manner in which he/she is capable.
- 10. The alleged harassment of a teacher shall be brought to the attention of the Superintendent, who shall investigate the allegation and thereafter meet with the teacher. If the problem is not resolved, the Superintendent and Association President will meet to discuss the matter.
- 11. The following provisions shall be applied to all requests for information regarding a teacher under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA).
  - a. All requests must be made in writing and include the name, address and telephone number of the person or organization making the request.
  - b. Once a FOIA request is received by the Board, the teacher and association president shall be notified immediately and provided with a copy of the FOIA request.
  - c. As soon as possible and before the FOIA request is granted, the administration will contact the teacher and association representatives to review the FOIA request and the documents requested.
  - d. The Board will honor exemptions to the production of documents contained in Section 13 (1) of the FOIA.
  - e. On any documents that may be released under a FOIA request, exempt material will be redacted.

# **ARTICLE 5:** BOARD OF EDUCATION RIGHTS

- A. The Board, on its own behalf, and on the behalf of the electors of the District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the Laws and Constitution of the State of Michigan, and of the United States, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the right:
  - 1. To the executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities, and the activities of its employees;
  - 2. To hire all employees and, subject to the provisions of law, to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment, or their

dismissal or demotion; and to promote and transfer all such employees;

- 3. To establish grades and courses of instruction, including special programs, and to provide for athletic, recreational and social events for students, all as deemed necessary or advisable by the Board;
  - To decide upon the means and methods of instruction, the selection of textbooks, and other teacher materials, and the use of teaching aids of every kind and nature;
- 4. To determine class schedules, the hours and days of instruction, and the duties, responsibilities and assignments of teachers, and non-teaching activities, and terms and conditions of employment.
- B. The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities by the Board, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations, and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent that such specific and express terms hereof are in conformance with the Constitution and the Laws of the United States. Nothing contained herein shall be considered to deny or restrict the Board of its rights, responsibilities and authority under the Michigan General School Laws, or any other national, state, county, district, or local laws or regulations as they pertain to education.

# **ARTICLE 6:** TEACHING CONDITIONS

- A. Class Size: The Board and administration recognize the desirability of keeping all classes balanced within the range of class size limits, and a good faith effort shall be made to achieve this goal.
  - 1. The parties recognize that optimum school facilities for both student and teacher are desirable to insure the high quality of education that is the goal of both the Association and the Board. With this knowledge, the parties agree to work toward the optimum class sizes set forth below. It is also acknowledged that the primary duty and responsibility of the teacher is to teach and that the organization of the school and the school day should be directed toward insuring that the energy of the teacher is primarily utilized to this end.
  - 2. The parties acknowledge that class maximums may have to be exceeded due to the factors listed below. When said factors occur, Section A-3 of this Article will be instituted.
    - a. Unavailability of classroom space;
    - b. Budgetary limitations;
    - c. The imposition of State or Federal Laws;
    - d. Unanticipated Acts of God that render the district or its buildings inoperable.

#### **Class Size Limits**

Grade Levels	Optimum Class Size	Maximum Class Size
K	29	34
1-2-3	30	35
4-5-6	30	35
Grades 7-8	32	35
Senior High, Grades 9-12	32	35
Physical Education: Grades	7-12 limit	45

Students in Grades 7 and 8 will not be scheduled with students in grades 9-12 for physical education. At the conclusion of the first (1st) week of school, the high school administration will provide to the Association, upon request, a list of the students and their grade levels.

Special Education,

Resource/TC: Class size shall be determined by State Law Special Education, Class size shall be determined by State Law

In grades 7-12, total work day student maximum shall not exceed two-hundred (200).

- 3. If at any time after the fifth (5th) week of each school year, the class load of a teacher exceeds the maximum class size listed above, then the "Class Size-Overload" committee shall meet to find a solution to the oversize class. This committee shall be composed of an annually appointed representative of the Association, an annually appointed representative of the Board, and the principal and teacher involved in the oversize class. The above mentioned committee shall agree upon and institute one of the following solutions within two (2) weeks:
  - a. Balancing of classes;
  - b. Use of para-professionals;
  - c. Additional staff; or
  - d. Other appropriate solutions, including the teachers involved shall be paid \$5.00 per day per student overage, including per hour in the elementary up to a maximum of six (6) hours per day.
- 4. The parties agree that the limits set forth above shall not apply to Vocal Music, Band, and other similar classes which are controlled by circumstances peculiar to them.
- 5. The Board agrees that when Special Education students are placed in general education classrooms, it will equalize as much as possible the placement of such students among the appropriate classrooms within a building. All referring and receiving teachers will be extended an opportunity to attend and participate in I.E.P.C.'s. Release time will be provided.

Special Education students who are assigned to a general education classroom for any instructional time shall be considered full time students for the purpose of that teacher's class count.

6. A joint committee of teachers and administrators shall be formed to discuss class size and the impact of placing special education students in the regular education classroom.

#### B. Time of the School Day

- 1. The length of the teacher workday will be no longer than seven (7) hours and fifteen (15) minutes.
- 2. Teachers shall report five (5) minutes before and stay five (5) minutes after school, except on days when conferences or meetings are scheduled. If on split sessions, teachers may leave after prep period if prep period is at the end of their teaching day.

#### C. Conferences and Faculty Meetings

1. Teachers will be required to remain for nine (9) scheduled faculty meetings of maximum length of one and one-half (1 1/2) hour (s) each, unless mutually extended by teachers and administration. In the event compelling request for a teachers' meeting other than the nine (9) regular scheduled monthly meetings, a special meeting may be called. The Building Representative and the Principal will establish a regularly scheduled monthly date for meetings.

Teachers taking graduate level classes will be excused. Proof of registration may be required by the Building Principal.

Three (3) hours per semester may be used to conduct inservice workshops. The first one and one-half (1 1/2) hours will be deducted from the regular teacher meeting time. Dates and times for these workshops will be established by the building principal and Building Representative as the result of a staff survey.

An evaluation form will be furnished to the participants at the conclusion of the workshop to determine the value to staff and administration.

- D. Elementary teachers, whose students are receiving instruction from teaching specialists in the areas of art, music, and physical education shall be relieved of their regular classroom duties.
- E. One recess duty per day will be assigned to all Elementary teachers on a rotation basis, unless mutually agreed to by the building principal and the staff involved. The remaining time will be for preparation. There will be no other mandatory duty

assignments.

The recess duty roster shall be drawn up within two (2) weeks after school starts and presented to all teachers involved.

- F. Secondary teachers (6-12) will be provided with one (l) class period of at least forty (40) minutes of preparation time each day. The preparation period for elementary teachers (K-5) shall be at least forty (40) minutes each day. This preparation time during the student's school day shall be provided by the instruction of elementary teaching specialists. Elementary teaching specialists will receive the same amount of preparation time as the other elementary teachers. It is understood that preparation time is used to prepare for classes.
- G. The Board will continue its efforts to keep schools clean, reasonably and properly equipped and maintained.

The Board agrees to provide each school adequate copying equipment and facilities to aid teachers in the preparation of instructional materials.

The Board agrees to provide specialist personnel with instructional space in each school building.

- H. Duty Free Lunch: All teachers will be provided with a duty free, uninterrupted lunch period each day of no less than thirty (30) minutes.
- I. Emergency Closings:
  - 1. In case of emergency school closings, the Board shall endeavor to notify radio stations not later than one (1) hour prior to the time that the first teachers are to report for work. When schools are closed to students due to the above conditions, teachers shall not be required to report for duty.

Any emergency conditions that result in the official dismissal of the students will also dismiss the teachers, except in the case of fog. Such days will be considered as working days if the teacher is at home or at school. Every effort will be made to have the buildings open and available for any teachers who wish to come in.

- 2. In case of fog conditions, and school is called off, teachers will stay until 10:30 A.M.
- J. No outside duty will be scheduled at the beginning of the school day or at dismissal time.
- K. Duty Assignments
  - 1. Secondary teachers shall be in the immediate vicinity of the area where they are conducting their next class during the passing of classes.

2. Teachers with preparation periods the first or last hour may be assigned areas to supervise by the building principals. Those teachers assigned will be in the duty areas at least five (5) minutes before or after class depending upon the time of their preparation period.

#### L. Teacher Facilities

- 1. The Board shall make available in each school adequate lunchroom, restroom and lavatory facilities exclusively for adult school employees' use and at least one (1) room, appropriately furnished, which shall be reserved for use as a faculty lounge.
- 2. Telephone facilities shall be made available to teachers for reasonable use. The building principal will supply each teacher with the procedures for recording long-distance calls. Failure to follow this procedure will result in loss of the right to use the telephone.
  - Long distance personal calls may be charged to credit cards or reverse charges if made on non-duty hours. Under no circumstances may non-school related calls be charged to the school district.
- 3. The Board shall provide and maintain adequate improved off-street parking facilities in a designated area at each building, and adequate improved access from the parking lot to the building.
- 4. Upon request of the Association, vending machines may be installed in the teachers' lounge. The proceeds from all such machines shall be placed in a student scholarship fund. Said scholarship fund shall be administered by the Association.
- M. Teachers will not be required to work under unsafe or hazardous conditions. The Superintendent, or designee, shall meet with the President of the Association, or designee, in an attempt to solve physical facility problems.

# ARTICLE 7: PAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- A. A leave of absence with pay not chargeable against the teacher's allowance shall be granted for the following reasons.
  - 1. A maximum of seven (7) consecutive calendar days commencing no later than the day following a death in the immediate family may be used. Any days in excess of the foregoing will be deducted from personal business time allotted. If all personal business time has been used, then the deduction shall come from sick days.
    - a. Immediate family to mean: Husband, wife, father or mother of either spouse, children, brother or sister of each spouse.
    - b. A death of a grandparent of either the employee or spouse or any other person will entitle the employee to a maximum of two (2) days. He/she may have up to three (3) additional days if travel time is needed. These days will be deducted first from sick time allotted and then from personal business days.
    - c. One day leaves shall be granted for attendance at funerals of others than those persons defined above which will be charged as a sick day.
  - 2. Court appearances as a subpoenaed witness in any case connected with teacher's employment or whenever a teacher is subpoenaed by the Board to attend any proceedings, and on days when testimony is required.
  - 3. Visitation at other schools or for attending educational conferences or conventions, including Association meetings when approved by the Board's delegated representative. Each teacher shall be granted one (1) day per year for visitation to other outstanding programs for teachers.
    - Teachers requesting time for visitation or conferences will accompany each request with an outline of events, programs and intended or expected results which will be of benefit to the school system.
  - 4. Time necessary to take the Selective Service physical examination.
  - 5. A teacher called for jury duty during school hours shall be paid his/her full salary. A teacher called for jury duty for a period of over twenty (20) days shall provide the district with court verification of their functioning as a juror during this time.

#### B. Sick Leave

1. Each teacher shall be granted ten (10) sick days per year. Sick days may accumulate to two hundred (200) days.

2. Teachers may use their annual and cumulative sick days for personal illness or illness in the immediate family. (Immediate family to mean: parents, husband, wife, children or other legal dependents as defined in the Internal Revenue Code who live in the same household).

A teacher who uses his/her sick days for care of a family member, uses such sick day(s) with the understanding that this leave is granted for the purpose of tending to the ill person during normal school hours.

- 3. A teacher may use her sick leave for absence due to pregnancy or childbirth or a medical condition related to pregnancy or childbirth. If the Board requires a second opinion, refer to Article XIII.
- 4. In cases of abuse of sick leave, disciplinary action may be taken.
- 5. Sick days shall not be deducted when school is not in session.

## C. Personal Business Policy

- 1. At the beginning of the school year, all full-time teachers, regularly employed by the Board of Education, shall be granted two (2) days for pressing business. It is understood that personal business days shall not include recreational activities. The principal will grant approval on the basis of the article, providing they have received notification on a standard district form, and further, provided that:
  - a. Written notification for such leave shall be made at least five (5) days in advance, unless an emergency situation develops, making it impracticable to give the five (5) days notice. The notification shall include the planned use of the leave.
  - b. Such business cannot be transacted at a time other than during normal school hours.
- 2. This day may not be taken immediately preceding or following a holiday or school recess unless approved in advance. The teacher shall state reasons for the use of such days. These days shall not be used as an extension for a vacation.
- 3. This policy provides that, at the end of the school year, unused personal business days shall be added to the teachers' accumulated sick leave bank, for possible future use in accordance with the Sick Leave Article.
- 4. In case of abuse of the personal business policy, disciplinary action may be taken.

#### D. Personal Holiday

1. Each employee shall be entitled to two (2) personal holidays a year. Such time shall be taken at any time by the employee with notification to his/her principal at least five (5) days in advance of each use.

It is understood that the Principal may deny use of such a personal holiday where more than ten percent (10%) of the employees in that building have requested a personal holiday on that day.

If teachers do not use their personal holiday during a school year, the unused personal holiday shall be added to the teachers' accumulated sick leave bank at the end of the school year for possible use in accordance with the sick leave article.

2. It is understood that this day may not be taken on teacher work days at the beginning or end of the year or when teacher work days are scheduled. Also, this day may not be taken immediately preceding or following a holiday or school recess unless approved in advance.

#### E. Sick Bank

Each teacher who wishes to participate shall contribute no less than one (1) day of personal sick leave to the bank each school year. The Executive Board of the Association will establish policies pertaining to the sick bank and its administration.

# ARTICLE 8: UNPAID LEAVES

A teacher on an unpaid leave of absence shall not be entitled to receive fringe benefits.

- A. Health Leaves: Any teacher whose personal illness extends beyond the period compensated under Article VII, Section B, shall be granted a health leave under the following conditions:
  - 1. Health leave, when verified by a physician, shall be granted, without pay, or fringe benefits, up to a maximum of one (1) year.

At the expiration of such leave, the employee must return or resign, unless a special extension is recommended by the Superintendent and granted by the Board of Education.

- 2. Eligibility for a health leave of absence requires a minimum of two (2) years continuous employment by the school district, immediately prior to such leave of absence.
- 3. An extension of a health leave may be granted upon the verification of a

- physician that such an extension is necessary for the employee's complete recovery.
- 4. Employees on a leave of absence must give written notice to the Superintendent of Schools by March 1, of the year the leave expires, of their intention to return or resign, unless an extension of leave or a new leave has been granted. Notice of intent to return is the responsibility of the individual. In the event such notice is not received, the Board has the discretion to interpret this as a resignation.
- 5. The notice of intention to return to duty after a health leave, shall be accompanied by a written statement from a physician, certifying the fitness of the employee to fulfill his/her duties.
- 6. Teachers returning from a leave of absence shall be reinstated to a position for which they are certified and qualified, provided that they have filed written notice of intent to return on or before March 15 preceding the teacher's anticipated return.
- 7. If the Board requires a second opinion, refer to Article XIII.

#### B. Child Care Leave

- 1. A child care leave, without pay, shall on request be granted for up to one (1) year. Said leave shall commence upon request of the bargaining unit member. The leave must terminate at the beginning of the winter or fall semesters.
- 2. The employee requesting such leave shall notify the Superintendent, in writing, at least thirty (30) days prior to the beginning of the leave, except in the case of an emergency.
  - a. Employees whose leaves will begin at the end of their medical disability shall notify the Superintendent, in writing, as soon as possible.
  - b. The notification to the Superintendent shall be accompanied by her physician's statement that there is no reason why the teacher cannot continue to perform her services until the beginning date of the leave.
- 3. A teacher on a child care leave shall give written notice to the Superintendent, at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the leave period, of the teacher's intent to return, resign, or extend his/her leave.
- 4. The leave may be extended by the Board of Education for one (1) year by written request of the teacher.
- 5. Teachers returning from a leave of absence shall be reinstated to a position for which they are certified and qualified, provided that they have filed written

- notice of intent to return on or before March 15 preceding the teacher's anticipated return.
- 6. A teacher returning from a leave provided in this article shall be placed on the salary schedule with credit for each semester taught in the year the leave was granted. (A semester shall be defined as fifty percent (50%) of the days in the semester plus one (1) day.
- 7. In the event of the death of the object child of the leave, the leave will be terminated upon request of the teacher.
- 8. A teacher adopting or assuming guardianship of a child shall have a leave for a period of time consistent with the needs of the child and parents.

#### C. Public Office Leave

- 1. A leave of absence may be granted to any teacher upon application for the purpose of campaigning for, or serving in, a public office. Any teacher who is granted such leave shall not receive experience, credit or other fringe benefits during the duration of the leave. Such leave shall be for a minimum of one (1) year and a maximum of two (2) years.
- 2. No teacher shall be laid off or transferred in order to rehire a teacher on said leave.

#### D. Personal Leave

- 1. A leave of absence, without pay, may be granted upon application to tenure teachers at the end of the school year, or at other times at the discretion of the Board. A leave may be granted for the following purposes, but is not limited to:
  - a. Care for family members suffering physical or emotional illness or disability.
- 2. The leave shall be for one (1) year and may be extended at the discretion of the Board. A teacher on a leave shall give written notice to the Superintendent, at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the leave period, of the teacher's intent to return, resign or request an extension of his/her leave. In the event such notice is not received, the Board has the discretion to interpret this lack of notification as a resignation, provided the individual has been informed of such pending Board action sent to the employee's last known address.
- 3. Seniority shall accrue on any child care or family member leave.
- 4. Teachers returning from a leave of absence shall be reinstated to a position for which they are certified and qualified, provided that they have filed written

notice of intent to return on or before March 15 preceding the teacher's anticipated return.

# E. Military Leave

- 1. Military leave will be granted in accordance with the applicable law to any teacher who enlists or is inducted into the military service of the United States of America.
- 2. Upon return from such leave, if the applicable law requires it, a teacher shall be placed at the same position on the salary schedule, and shall accrue seniority as he/she would have, had the teacher worked in the district during such period.
- F. Paid fringe benefits shall continue for a teacher on an unpaid leave of absence through the next complete month of coverage, following the initiation of the unpaid leave.

# **ARTICLE 9:** SABBATICAL LEAVE

Sabbatical leave may be granted to teachers subject to the approval of the Board of Education upon the recommendation of the Superintendent, when in their considered judgement the professional competence of the staff members and the general welfare of the school district will be beneficial.

Sabbatical leave is granted to teachers to permit them to improve their ability to render educational service to the district. Such improvement is usually achieved by formal study, research and/or writing and educational travel. Applications for other types of experiences shall be considered on their merits and may be approved by the Board upon recommendation of the Superintendent.

The provisions of sabbatical leave are authorized by, and shall be interpreted in accordance with Section 572, Michigan School Code of 1960, M.S.A. 15.1572 and any amendments thereto as follows:

- A. Any Board, after a teacher has been employed at least seven (7) consecutive years by said Board, and at the end of each additional period of seven (7) or more consecutive years of employment, may grant said teacher a sabbatical leave for professional improvement not to exceed two (2) semesters at any one time. Provided, that the teacher holds a Permanent or Life Certificate, or is engaged in teaching in a college maintained by the Board. During said sabbatical leave, the teacher shall be considered to be in the employ of said Board, shall have a contract, and may be paid compensation as provided in the rules and regulations of said Board; providing however, that said Board shall not be held liable for death or injuries sustained by any teacher while on sabbatical leave.
- B. Teachers on a sabbatical leave shall be allowed credit toward retirement for time spent

on such leave in accordance with rules and regulations established by the Board of Control of Public School Employee Retirement Funds.

C. A teacher, upon return from a sabbatical leave, shall be restored to his/her teaching position or to a position of like nature, seniority, status and pay. Said teacher shall be entitled to participate in any other benefits that may be provided for by rules and regulations of the Board made pursuant to Law.

In addition, a sabbatical leave shall be governed by the following terms and conditions.

- 1. No more than one (1) teacher may be granted leave during any fiscal year.
- 2. The period of leave shall not be less than one (1) semester.
- 3. A sabbatical leave, once granted, cannot be terminated before the date of expiration except as otherwise agreed upon by the Board of Education.
- 4. As a condition to receiving final approval, the applicant shall sign and file with the Secretary of the Board of Education a written agreement stipulating that he/she will remain in the employ of the New Haven Community Schools for a period of three (3) years after the expiration of said leave, or that failing to do so he/she shall repay within two (2) years of his/her date of termination of employment an amount of money which shall bear the same relation to the amount granted as the unexpired period of service bears to three (3) years.

This condition does not apply in cases wherein the person becomes incapacitated to work or in cases wherein the condition is waived by the Board of Education.

- 5. Compensation shall be one-half (1/2) of the contract salary he would receive if on active status for the period in which the leave is effective. This also applies to fringe benefits.
- 6. Payment of salary to a teacher on sabbatical leave shall be made in accordance with provisions for payment of salary to the rest of the staff. It shall be the responsibility of said teacher to notify the bookkeeper at least one (1) week before the first (1st) pay period of the effective period of leave as to the place to which his checks should be addressed.
- 7. The teacher on sabbatical leave shall notify the Superintendent within ten (10) days of an accident or the beginning of an illness.
- 8. The next regular salary increment shall be granted at the beginning of the next full year of school following return to service.
- 9. Sabbatical leave shall also serve as a leave without pay from all other school activities.

- 10. Any teacher granted sabbatical leave may be required to perform such services and to engage in such activities during said leave as the Superintendent, with the approval of the Board of Education, may agree upon in writing.
- 11. A teacher on sabbatical leave shall furnish as many reports as the Superintendent deems necessary or reasonable to determine the employee is fulfilling the agreement and all the requirements of said leave. In the event that the Superintendent finds that the teacher is not fulfilling the agreement or is dilatory in any respect, the entire sum paid to the employee by the Board shall cease.

A teacher shall not be considered as having completed the requirements of said leave until a final report has been approved by the Superintendent. At his discretion, the Superintendent may require proof that the approved program has been followed. When approved by the Superintendent, he/she shall transmit the final reports to the Board of Education.

- 12. Application for sabbatical leave shall be filed with the Superintendent not later than February 15 for a leave commencing the first semester of a school year, or September 15 for a leave beginning the second semester of a school year.
- 13. Applicants shall file with the application a detailed plan for the period of the leave. Said plan shall be on the prescribed form and shall be in accordance with the criteria listed on that form.
- 14. Within five (5) teacher duty days following the deadline for filing, the Superintendent shall refer all applications to a Review Committee composed of two (2) teachers appointed by the Association and one (1) administrator appointed by the Superintendent. They shall be governed by the following:
  - a. The Sabbatical Leave Committee shall make recommendations to the Superintendent concerning all applications. In recommending approval or disapproval, they shall consider the date of application, the purpose of the leave, the seniority of service in the school district, the professional growth of the applicant, the potential benefit to the school district, and any other factors deemed important.
  - b. The Sabbatical Leave Committee will forward its recommendations within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the applications.
- 15. The Superintendent shall notify all applicants as to the final disposition of the request by March 31 for leaves commencing the first semester and by October 3, for leaves commencing the second semester.
- 16. Applications approved for sabbatical leave shall be governed by the following:

- a. Substantial changes in the approved program of said leave must be approved by the Superintendent.
- b. An interim report shall be filed at the mid-point of the period for which said leave is taken. This report shall contain sufficient information to enable the Superintendent to determine that said leave is being utilized in the approved manner.
- c. Each teacher returning from sabbatical leave shall file a final written report with the Superintendent not later than one (1) month after the date on which the teacher again takes up active service with the school district. Said report shall include the names of institutions attended, course pursued, credits received, experience gain, the itinerary of travel or any other pertinent activity, together with the teacher's appraisal of the professional value of the activities and the manner in which the knowledge and experience gained may be applied to the benefits of the school district.
  - (a) The Superintendent may require, and the teacher shall promptly furnish, such additional reports as deemed necessary or reasonable to determine that the teacher is fulfilling all the requirements of the leave. The Superintendent shall be responsible for furnishing all forms necessary for the implementation of this policy.

#### SABBATICAL LEAVE

To the Secretary of the Board of Education:

I hereby agree that I will remain in the employ of the New Haven Community School District for a period of three (3) years after the expiration of the Sabbatical Leave described in the attached application. I understand that in the event that I fail to fulfill this agreement or violate any provision of the Policy on Sabbatical Leaves, I may become liable to forfeiture as described in Article 9, Section 11-Sabbatical Leave of Absences, which portion reads as follows:

An employee on sabbatical leave shall furnish as many reports as the Superintendent deems necessary or reasonable to determine that the employee is fulfilling the agreement and all the requirements of the leave. In the event that the Superintendent will find that the employee is not fulfilling the agreement or is dilatory in any respect, the entire sum paid to the employee by the Board shall cease. An employee shall not be considered as having completed the requirements of the sabbatical leave until a final report has been approved by the Superintendent. At his discretion, the Superintendent may require proof that the program as presented by the applicant has been followed. When approved by the Superintendent, these final reports shall be transmitted to the Board of Education.

When an employee completes the planned program of the leave, but does not return to service in the New Haven Community School District, he/she shall within two (2) years repay to the Board of Education the amount received by him/her during the sabbatical leave. If an employee does not remain in the New Haven Community School District for three (3) years immediately following his/her sabbatical leave, he/she shall within two (2) years repay the Board of Education an amount of money which will bear the same relation to the amount granted as the unexpired period of service bears to three (3) years. This rule does not apply in cases wherein the person becomes incapacitated to work or in cases wherein the rule is waived by the Board of Education.

Signature	Date

# ARTICLE 10: VACANCIES AND ASSIGNMENTS

#### A. Hiring

- 1. Only fully certified, or teachers with annual authorization for Vocational Education, will be hired for regular teaching positions if at all possible.
- 2. Teachers will be hired by the Board as soon as possible after the occurrence of a vacancy. It is understood that no teaching assignment will be filled by a substitute or series of substitutes to replace a teacher on other than sick leave, for longer than five (5) consecutive weeks, except if the Board has had less than four (4) weeks notice of such impending vacancy, in which case eight (8) weeks will be allowed.
- 3. For the purposes of this agreement, a vacancy shall be defined as an unfilled assignment within the bargaining unit where a teacher is not expected to return; a position filled on a temporary basis during the previous year; a position created by a principal approved intra-building transfer; and a new position which may be created by the Board.
  - Vacancies shall be filled in accordance with Article XVI, E relating to recall.
- 4. The Board will post all teaching vacancies with MEA-NEA LOCAL 1 and in each building for a period of no less than ten (10) days. No vacancy shall be filled until the end of the posting.
- 5. The Board recognizes the advantage of having certified and qualified teachers fill teaching vacancies that occur in the district. To that end the Board agrees to mail a copy of posted notice of openings or vacancies to the MEA-NEA Local 1 office. The Board further agrees to give consideration to all applicants.
- 6. Effective the 1996-97 school year, any teacher who has an interest in a position which may be created or become vacant during the summer shall notify the Superintendent in writing of his/her interest. Such notification shall be made by June 15 of each school year. The Superintendent will send only those particular postings to requesting teachers during the summer months.
- 7. Effective the 1996-97 school year, if a student requires homebound services, those services must first be offered to the teachers of that particular student. If none of the student's current teachers volunteer, then the posting period for homebound services shall be two (2) days.

#### B. Administrative Vacancies

1. The Board retains the sole discretion to fill administrative positions from within or outside the district.

- 2. A written request for an administrative position will be forwarded directly to the Superintendent of Schools with a copy forwarded to the Secretary of the Board.
- 3. The Board will post all administrative vacancies with MEA-NEA, Local 1 and in each building for a period of no less than ten (10) days. No vacancy shall be filled until the end of the posting.

#### C. Extra Curricular Positions

1. Whenever any vacancy in the extra curricular positions in the district shall occur, the Board shall post such vacancy with MEA-NEA Local 1 and in each building for a period of no less than ten (10) days. No vacancy shall be filled until the end of the posting.

#### D. Assignments

- 1. Teachers will be notified of their tentative programs for the coming school year, including schools to which they are assigned, the grades and/or subjects they will teach no later than June 30.
- 2. If it becomes necessary to change said assignments after June 30, and prior to the first day of school, the affected teacher will be notified as soon as possible. Such assignment will not be considered transfers.

#### E. Transfers

- 1. The Board retains the sole discretion to transfer or not transfer all teachers. When transfers are necessary all voluntary requests for transfers will be considered first (1st).
- 2. Transfers shall be defined as a change in work location, change in grade levels or subject areas. All voluntary requests for transfer will be considered before involuntary transfers are made.
  - a. Teachers desiring a transfer to a different building or assignment shall indicate, in writing, to the Superintendent, their request to transfer and reasons for said transfer. Such request shall be submitted annually or upon a posting of a vacancy.

A response indicating whether the request for transfer has been approved or denied will be returned to the teacher involved as soon as possible. If a request for transfer has been denied, the reasons for the denial will be reported to the teacher involved upon written request of said teacher.

- b. No assignment of a new teacher shall be made in a position until all pending requests for transfer relative to that position have been acted upon by granting or denying the request.
- 3. Involuntary transfers are defined as transfers to which the teacher does not agree.
- 4. If involuntary transfers are still necessary, such transfer will be made on the basis of the teacher with the required certification and qualifications and the lowest district wide seniority in one of the following categories, whichever is least disruptive to the educational process:
  - a. Grade
  - b. School
  - c. Subject area

## F. Bargaining Unit Work

1. No teacher shall be replaced by, or have their duties or responsibilities transferred to an aide or an administrator, except in cases of emergency. An emergency shall be unanticipated, short term absences.

# **ARTICLE 11: TEACHER EVALUATIONS**

- A. At the beginning of the school year each teacher, tenure and non-tenure, being evaluated for that school year shall be informed by the evaluating administrator of the evaluation procedure and forms to be used.
- B. All monitoring or observation of work performance of a teacher shall be conducted openly. "Video equipment will not be used in evaluations without teacher notice and approval. Other electronic equipment will not be used in evaluations without teacher notice." There will be teacher evaluations within the classroom situation. Each scheduled observation shall be conducted in person for a minimum of twenty (20) consecutive minutes. A teacher shall receive a copy of all written observations within two weeks following an observation and shall meet with the administration to discuss the observation.
- C. In cases where there are negative comments regarding the teacher's performance, at the teacher's or administrator's written request, the teacher and the administrator shall meet within three (3) school days of such request to discuss the observation. If the teacher disagrees with the written observation, he/she may reply and have his/her comments attached to the observation.
- D. Any improper action or conduct by a teacher which is observed by an administrator will be brought to the attention of said teacher in order that he/she may make corrective measures. Should this teacher fail to take corrective measures, it shall be entered in his/her personnel file, in accordance with section H of this article.

E. Each probationary bargaining unit member shall be provided with an annual year-end summative evaluation. This evaluation shall be based on, but not limited to, at least two (2) classroom observations held at least sixty (60) days apart, unless a shorter interval between observations is mutually agreed to by the teacher and the administration. This evaluation shall, in part, include an assessment of the teacher's progress toward meeting the goals in his/her Individualized Development Plan.

Each tenure teacher shall be provided with a performance evaluation at least once every three (3) years. The performance evaluation shall be based on, but not limited to, at least two (2) classroom observations held at least sixty (60) days apart, unless a shorter interval between observations is mutually agreed to by the teacher and the administration. The evaluation will be completed prior to April 30.

F. A copy of the written evaluation shall be given to the teacher at least one (1) day prior to the conference between the building principal and the teacher. A representative of the Association at the teacher's request, may be present at this conference. One (1) copy of the evaluation shall be retained by the principal and one (1) copy shall be sent to the Superintendent.

In all written evaluations, if areas of concern are noted, the evaluation will include recommendations for remediation of same.

- G. Each teacher, upon request, may make an appointment to review the contents of his/her own personnel file in the Central Administration Office. A representative of the Association may, at the teacher's request, accompany the teacher in this review.
- H. No material detrimental to the teacher may be placed in his/her file without providing the teacher opportunity to sign the material and file a response thereto (and) said response shall become a part of his/her file. The teacher's signature shall not be interpreted to mean agreement or disagreement with the content of the material.
- I. Records of a non-recurring negative nature, excluding evaluations, will be removed from a teacher's personnel file three (3) years after the date of entry. In order to be purged, the teacher must send written notice of the records to be removed. Files shall be purged immediately upon receipt of such notice, but in no case no later than three (3) days from the date of written notification. Requests for items to be purged shall not be included in the personnel file.

# ARTICLE 12: TEACHER PROTECTION AND STUDENT DISCIPLINE

A. Since the teacher's authority and effectiveness in the classroom is undermined when the students discover that there is insufficient administrative backing and support of the teacher, the Board recognizes its responsibility to give all reasonable support and

assistance to teachers with respect to the maintenance of control and discipline in the classroom.

B. Each teacher shall recognize his/her prime responsibility for the effective control and management of student behavior in his/her classroom. He/she shall recognize that effective teaching is the first line of defense in the prevention of discipline problems. He/she shall consider it his/her responsibility to utilize the resources available to him/her to help prevent behavior problems. Such resources include consultations with parents, his principal, counselors, the school social worker, when appropriate, etc.

A teacher shall not exclude students from classes unless and until resources available have been utilized. Prior to excluding students from his/her classes, he/she shall notify his/her principal, in writing, of his/her intent. Provided, however, the requirement of written notice shall not apply in cases where the conduct of the student is so disruptive that the continued presence of the student may be excluded and a teacher shall provide his/her principal or the principal's administrative designee a full report as soon as his/her duties allow but no later than the close of the day in which the incident occurred. The student will not be allowed to return to class until after a consultation by an administrator with the teacher. A conference between the teacher and the student and principal or the principal's administrative designee shall occur no later than two (2) days following the formal written report.

C. Any case of assault upon a teacher during the school day or any school sponsored activity shall be promptly reported to the building principal, and a written report shall be submitted outlining in detail events leading up to the assault to the principal as soon as practicable.

The Board or its representative shall render reasonable assistance to the teacher in connection with handling of the incident by law enforcement officers.

- D. Any case of physical contact by a teacher upon a student shall be promptly reported to the building principal and a written report shall be submitted as soon as practicable.
- E. The Board will assist in every reasonable way, the apprehension and conviction of any person causing damage to, or destruction of the teacher's personal property while said teacher is on duty during the normal school day and school-related activities. Any personal loss to a teacher shall be discussed at the next monthly meeting of the New Haven Board of Education.

An account of the personal loss shall be submitted, in writing, to the Superintendent or principal. The Board will prosecute and seek to collect damages if aggrieved will sign complaint and testify. This is in the event the person caught does not agree to pay for damages.

F. During the school day, each teacher will supervise those students for whom he/she is responsible whether they are engaged in curricular or extra curricular activities.

# **Article 13: THIRD PARTY MEDICAL DECISIONS**

A. Whenever, in this contract, the language permits the Board to verify a teacher's medical condition the teacher may be examined at the Board's expense by an appropriate specialist in the area of controversy. The Board will choose the hospital, and the hospital will appoint the appropriate specialist. The findings of the specialist will be final and binding on the parties.

# ARTICLE 14: SPECIAL TEACHING ASSIGNMENTS

A. Assignments for driver education, summer school and all extra-curricular positions may be made by the Board on the basis of preference to teachers possessing teaching certificates regularly employed during the normal school year.

#### **ARTICLE 15:** FRINGE BENEFITS

A. Insurance Coverage.

For the duration of the contract, the Board will provide the teachers with MESSA CHOICES II for health insurance coverage during the open enrollment period.

Plan A: For employees needing health insurance

MESSA CHOICES II \$5/\$10 Rx 2009-10 \$10\$20 Rx

2010-11 OV/UC/ER Co-Pay: \$10/\$25/\$50

#### Long Term Disability:

66 2/3% of Maximum Eligible Salary

\$5,000 maximum

90 Calendar days - Modified Fill

Freeze on Offsets

Alcohol/Drug & Mental/Nervous - Same as any other illness

#### Delta Dental Plan:

80/80/80: \$1,000 Annual Maximum 80: \$1300 Lifetime Maximum Two Cleanings per year No Adult Orthodontics

Negotiated Life:

\$50,000 AD&D

Disability waiver will apply

Vision:

VSP 2 - SILVER

#### Plan B: For employees not needing health insurance

**Long Term Disability:** 

66 2/3% of Maximum Eligible Salary

\$5,000 Maximum

90 Calendar Days - Modified Fill

Freeze on Offsets

Alcohol/Drug & Mental/Nervous - Same as any other illness

Delta Dental Plan:

100:90/90/90:\$1,000 Annual Maximum

90: \$1500 lifetime Maximum

Two Cleanings per year

No Adult Orthodontics

Negotiated Life:

\$60,000 AD&D

Dependent Life:

\$10,000 (Spouse) \$5,000 Child(ren)

Vision Plan:

VSP-3 - GOLD

In the event legislation is passed that prohibits specified insurance benefits, those benefits will cease beginning with the first day of the following month's coverage. If at a later date that legislation is repealed, the affected insurance benefit coverage shall be reinstated, if available.

#### B. Workers' Compensation

- 1. Teachers absent due to injury or disease or illness arising out of and in the course of their employment, which entitled them to receive Michigan Workers' Compensation Benefits, shall receive from the Board the following benefits:
  - a. All rights as set forth in law for all work-connected injuries.
  - b. Teachers may elect to use accumulated sick leave at the rate of the difference between the allowance paid under Workers' Compensation Benefits and their regular salary, computed on a daily basis for a period of time that funds from their accumulated sick leave bank will provide.

c. Any time lost because of physical impairment, due to assault by a student resulting in inability to work, shall not be charged against the teacher, if determined by a physician. Maximum time coverage pertaining to this article shall be seventeen and one-half (17 1/2) working days for any one incident. If the Board requires a second opinion, refer to Article XIII.

## C. Retirement Benefits

1. In appreciation for services to the school district, a retirement payment of thirty-five dollars (\$35.00) a year of service will be paid upon retirement, provided the employee shall have been employed in the school district for at least fifteen (15) years. In the alternative, teachers may elect to be paid for his/her unused sick days at the rate of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per unused sick day at the retirement.

## D. Terminal Pay Benefits

1. Any tenured teacher who terminates his/her employment, whether by retirement or resignation and has at least fifty-one percent (51%) of his/her sick leave days accumulated, will receive a dollar amount equal to the current substitute teacher rate per day for each accumulated sick leave day as a terminal leave benefit.

It is further understood that any teacher who has reached the maximum of two hundred (200) days as provided in Article VII-B shall automatically qualify for this benefit regardless of whether this represents fifty-one percent (51%) of his/her accumulation or not.

This terminal pay benefit shall also apply to anyone employed as a school nurse, social worker, and/or school psychologist who completes two (2) years of service.

This paragraph shall not apply to persons who exercise the unused sick days alternative in paragraph C.

## E. National Health Insurance Severability

- 1. If a national health insurance program is instituted by action of Congress or any government agency during the life of this Agreement, the parties hereto shall meet to renegotiate the appropriate provisions of Article XV.
- F. Teachers employed on a part-time basis prior to June 1, 1984, shall receive full fringe benefits unless they have available to them another employer sponsored equivalent health benefit insurance program. Current part-time teachers with an available employer sponsored equivalent health benefit insurance program shall receive no health benefits from the New Haven Schools.

In lieu of the above mentioned health benefits these part time teachers shall receive a tax sheltered annuity at the rate of sixty percent (60%) of the single subscriber yearly health insurance premium.

(Available employer sponsored equivalent health benefits insurance program shall be defined as equivalent benefits paid by an employer outside the insureds immediate family).

Current full time bargaining unit members, reduced to part time status, shall receive coverage as described in the above paragraphs. Teachers newly hired on a part-time basis after June 1, 1984, shall be eligible for group rate insurance benefits at a cost prorated on their percentage of employment. Example: A teacher working forty percent (40%) of full time shall be responsible to pay sixty percent (60%) of the group insurance rate.

Full time teachers who have insurance available through some entity other than the N.H.C.S. can elect to drop N.H.C.S. insurance and pick up an annuity at a rate of sixty percent (60%) - single subscriber health costs.

- G. It is the teachers responsibility to contact the business office to report any changes in insurance related status by September 15. New teachers must apply for insurance by September 15. Teachers with subsequent status changes shall report the changes as soon as possible.
- H. The Board shall adopt a qualified plan document which complies with Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code upon ratification of this agreement. Said plan document shall be approved by the Association. To elect a tax deferred annuity as listed in Paragraph F above, the bargaining unit member shall enter into a salary reduction agreement under this plan. All costs relating to the implementation and administration of the plan shall be borne by the Board.

## **ARTICLE 16: STAFF REDUCTIONS**

- A. No teacher shall be laid off pursuant to a necessary reduction in personnel for any school year or portion thereof, unless said teacher shall have been notified at least forty-five (45) calendar days prior to the reduction. The Board shall give written notice of layoff by sending a certified letter to said teacher at his/her last known address or by hand delivery of the notice to the teacher.
- B. Before official action on a reduction of teachers is taken by the Board, it will give notice to the Association of the contemplated reduction and afford the Association an opportunity to discuss it with the employer. The Association shall be provided a list of all members of the bargaining unit in seniority order thirty (30) calendar days after the beginning of each school year. Whenever possible the Board shall give the Association the names of teachers to be laid off at least ten (10) days prior to any layoff.

- C. In the event the Board finds it necessary to curtail programs for reasons including, but not limited to, a decrease in student population in the district or in a particular school, or a lack of sufficient operating revenues, the order of reduction in staff shall be as defined below. Curtailment of programs shall include the establishment of partial day sessions.
  - 1. Temporary Employee.
  - 2. Teachers with sub-standard certificates, according to seniority. If a position cannot be filled with a certified and qualified teacher, in accordance with seniority, a teacher with lower seniority may be retained.
  - Probationary teachers, according to seniority. If a position cannot be filled with a
    certified and qualified teacher, in accordance with seniority, a teacher with lower
    seniority may be retained.
  - 4. Tenure or continuing contract teachers according to seniority. If a position cannot be filled with a certified and qualified teacher, in accordance with seniority, a teacher with lower seniority may be retained. As used in this Agreement, the words "certified and qualified" shall mean: Teachers who have earned a Michigan Teaching Certificate in the required subject area and:
    - a. Who hold a major or minor in a given subject area, or its equivalency in credit hours; or
    - b. Who have two (2) years experience teaching in the subject area within the four (4) previous years preceding the proposed layoff and a minimum of ten (10) semester hours in the given subject area.

Teachers who do not meet the requirements of the C.4.a. above will be notified by the Superintendent or his/her designee of the necessity to upgrade their record by completion of one of the following options:

- D. In all cases, those courses, classes, seminars, or other appropriate educational training, including any method taken by a teacher to upgrade his/her record to meet the requirements for C.4a, approved by the Superintendent or his designee for enrollment by the teacher, tuition will be paid by the Board of Education. If a teacher's only possible assignment would necessitate him/her to attain an additional certification endorsement, the Board of Education shall grant release time for that teacher to complete his/her college requirements for the endorsement if a mandated course is only offered during the school day.
- E. Teachers whose services are terminated because of a necessary reduction in personnel shall be appointed to the first vacancy in the school district which they are certified and qualified according to seniority.

The Board shall give written notice of the recall from layoff by sending a registered letter or telegram to said teacher at his/her last known address. At the same time, the Board shall further notify the Association of the recall. It shall be the responsibility of each teacher to notify the Board of any change in address. The teacher's address as it appears in the Board's records shall be conclusive when used in connection with layoffs, recall or other notice to the teacher.

Teachers recalled will have seven (7) calendar days from the date of the receipt of a registered letter of recall to indicate their acceptance or rejection of re-employment. Failure to respond shall result in termination of all employee rights.

## F. Seniority

- 1. Seniority will be determined from the last date of hire. Seniority is defined as length of service within the district as of the employee's first (1st) working day. In the event the seniority date for two (2) or more employees is identical, a drawing will take place to determine their placement on the seniority list. The procedure for the drawing will be as follows:
  - a. The Board will provide the Association with a list of employees who begin active employment of the same day. This list will be provided within two (2) weeks of their official hire by the Board.
  - b. The Board will set a date, time, and location for the drawing, which will be within thirty (30) days following their official hire by the Board. The Association will inform the employees of the date, time, and location of the drawing. The President of the Association, or his/her designee and at least one other Association member shall attend the drawing. The employee(s) have the right to attend this drawing.
  - c. Each of the employees participating in the drawing shall have their name placed on a piece of paper. All names will be placed in a container and drawn. The first name drawn will be placed first on the seniority list. The drawing will continue, one name at a time, until the names of all employees hired on the same date are drawn.
  - d. Names of employees shall be entered into the seniority list in this order.
- 2. Seniority will be accrued for all paid leaves of absences and military leaves (Article VIII, Section E), personal leave (Article VIII, Section D, part la and lb) for child care and care for a family member.
- 3. No administrator hired after June 1, 1982 shall accrue seniority in the bargaining unit. Administrators hired before June 1, 1982 will continue to accrue seniority so long as they are employed by the New Haven Community Schools as professional certificated personnel.

- 4. The Board shall furnish the Association with a seniority list on or before October 1st of each school year. The list shall include the last date of hire, years of service in New Haven and certification areas for each teacher. The Association will distribute the list and have it initialed by all members on or before November 15th of each year. The list shall be conclusive unless the Association brings inaccuracies to the Board's attention prior to November 15th.
- G. When a teacher is laid off at the end of a school year for the following school year, the fringe benefits over the summer months afforded him/her under this Agreement shall not be lost due to layoff.
  - The Board will be notified of the teachers availability for work and of the teacher's current address each year.
- H. The Association and Board agree that a teacher shall remain on the recall list for the number of years he/she has continuously taught in the district prior to layoff up to a maximum of five (5) years but no less than two (2) years, from the date of layoff.
- I. The term "qualified" when used elsewhere in this contract in connection with classroom teaching positions shall have the same definition as contained in this Article.

## **ARTICLE 17:** MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- A. The teachers and the Board, recognizing that the employment of a multi-racial staff is a common goal and that the parties must work toward improving the ratio of minority teachers in each of the buildings, agree to the following:
  - 1. Teachers will recommend to other teachers, student teachers and intern teachers of minority groups to teach in the New Haven Community Schools.
  - 2. The Board agrees to utilize local resources and community contacts to publicize openings within minority groups.
  - 3. The Board retains the sole discretion to hire or not hire any applicant subject to the requirements of the Office of Economic Opportunity, the Michigan Civil Rights Commission and the Fair Employment Practices Commission.
- B. If any provision of this Agreement or any application of the Agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provisions or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- C. Any individual contract between the Board and an individual teacher heretofore executed shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any individual contract hereafter executed shall be expressly made subject to and

consistent with the terms of this or subsequent agreements to be executed by the parties. If an individual contract contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.

- D. The parties will apply the provisions of this Agreement without regard to religion, race, color, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, or marital status.
- E. Copies of this Agreement shall be printed at the expense of the Board and presented to all teachers now employed within forty-five (45) days of the ratification and signing of this Agreement, and to all teachers hereafter employed, at or prior to the time of employment.

Additional copies of the Agreement may be purchased at cost by the Association from the Board of Education.

F.

- 1. During the life of this Agreement, the Association will not cause or permit its members to cause, nor will any member of the Association take part in a work stoppage. As used in this Agreement, the words "work stoppage" shall mean the concerted failure to report for duty; the willful absence from one's position; the stoppage of work or the abstinence in whole or in part from the full, faithful, and proper performance of the duties of employment, for the purpose of inducing, influencing, or coercing a change in the conditions, compensation, or the rights, privileges, or obligations of employment.
- 2. The Association shall have no liability under this article if they will post notices immediately at any or all schools affected, advising that such action is unlawful, in violation of this Agreement, and unauthorized by the Association. The Association shall further advise any and all teachers involved, including notification to the communications or press media if requested by the employer, that such teachers are in violation of the Agreement and that all teachers involved shall return forthwith to their regular duties.
- 3. Members of the bargaining unit who violate this article shall be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge.
- 4. So long as no work stoppage occurs in violation of this article, the Board agrees they will not lock-out during the term of this contract.
- G. 1. It is the responsibility of each teacher to report his/her impending absence at or before 6:00 AM, except in cases of emergency.
  - 2. Annually, the district will provide all teachers with the telephone number to call and the procedures to follow when reporting an absence.

- 3. It is the responsibility of each teacher to call in their impending absence before the time specified above, except in cases of emergency. It is understood by the parties that the failure by a teacher to fulfill this obligation may be grounds for discipline.
- H. 1. No teacher shall be disciplined without cause. The specific grounds forming the basis for disciplinary action will be made available to the teacher and the Association in writing.
  - 2. A teacher shall be entitled to have present a representative of the Association during any disciplinary action when such action will become part of the teacher's personnel file. When a request for such representation is made, no action shall be taken with respect to the teacher until such representative of the Association is present except in extenuating circumstances. Further, in the event a disciplinary action is to be taken, the teacher shall be advised of the right to representation under this provision of the Agreement prior to the action being taken.
  - 3. Any complaint/matter which is subject to the provisions and procedures of the Teacher's Tenure Act (Act 4 of Public Acts, Extra Session, 1937 of Michigan as amended, being MSA 15,1971, etc.) shall not be the basis of any grievance.
  - 4. When probationary teachers are notified of discharge, they will also be notified of their right to have a closed Board hearing on the merits of such action. The hearing may be held after official Board action on their dismissal, providing the hearing request is made within twenty (20) school days of official notification of discharge. If probationary teachers request a hearing, they will receive a written statement of the reasons their work performance was considered unsatisfactory, ten (10) school days in advance of the hearing. The decision of the Board regarding their possible reinstatement will be final and non-grievable.

### I. Pay Plans

- 1. The Board shall provide each teacher with a form so they may elect one of the following pay plans by the end of the opening day of school:
  - a. Twenty-one (21) pays
  - b. Twenty-six (26) pays
  - c. Twenty-six (26) pays with a lump sum pay out of checks #22 through #26 with the last regularly scheduled pay period in June.
- 2. Changes in pay plans must be made by the end of the week preceding the first pay date of each school year. The pay plan elected may not be changed during the school year. It is understood that should any teacher not elect a pay plan, he/she will automatically be placed on the twenty-six (26) pay plan.
- 3. All teachers who receive pay for special assignments shall be paid by a separate

check, if possible.

- 4. Mileage payments will be paid monthly upon submission of the proper forms, on a monthly basis, and must be approved by the appropriate administrator prior to payment. Such payments shall be paid by separate check.
- J. The Board will meet and confer with the Association regarding any forms of multidistrict pre-kindergarten through grade twelve consortium whenever the bargaining unit will be adversely affected. At that time, both sides will meet and negotiate the impact upon association members.
- K. Special Contract Conference It is understood that problems of mutual concern may arise from time to time. Either party may request a conference to discuss such problems. Any request for such conference by the Association shall be made through the Superintendent of Schools. Any request for such a conference by the Board shall be made through the District Association President. The agenda shall be limited to the problems indicated on the request. The conference must be scheduled within five (5) school days.

Any issue that would result in changes and/or additions to this agreement shall be resolved by a Board representative, the District Association President, and the Chief Negotiator or designee of each bargaining team.

L. The District Curriculum Committee will consist of the district superintendent, building principals, the local association president, two teachers from each building appointed by the association president, and two parents from each building.

The purpose of the Curriculum Committee shall be:

- 1. To share information.
- 2. To coordinate curriculum programs.
- 3. To recommend to the Board of Education revisions or additions to the school district's curriculum.
- M. New Teacher Mentors: A new teacher mentor as identified in Section 1526 of the School Code, MCLA 380.1526, shall perform the following duties and be subject to the following terms and conditions:
  - 1. The purpose of the mentor is to provide a peer who can offer assistance, resources and information to a new teacher.
  - 2. A bargaining unit member may refuse such assignment as a mentor.
  - 3. The administration shall notify the Association when a mentor is matched with a new teacher (mentee).
  - 4. In assigning a bargaining unit member as a mentor, consideration will be given to

- the bargaining member's area of certification and building.
- 5. A mentor assignment shall be for a minimum of one semester at which time the assignment may be renewed.
- 6. Neither the mentor nor mentee shall be permitted to participate in the evaluation of the other. Further, except in cases of misconduct, the mentor shall not be called as a witness by the Board in any grievance or administrative hearing involving the mentee's work performance, and the mentee shall not be called as a witness by the Board in any grievance or administrative hearing involving the mentor's work performance.
- 7. The District shall provide reasonable release time to bargaining members acting as mentors.
- 8. Professional development training required by law or regulation, such as Section 1526 of the Michigan School Code, may occur during the regular workday and year. However, satisfying such professional development requirements is the sole responsibility of the teacher.
- 9. Bargaining unit members who serve as mentors shall receive a yearly stipend of four hundred (\$400) dollars (one-half of that amount for one semester).
- 10. In hiring a mentor, the Board shall give first consideration to hiring tenured bargaining unit members; however, the Board may hire as a mentor retired teachers and/or retired administrators who possess(ed) a valid teaching certificate. Non-tenured bargaining unit members shall not be hired as mentors.
- 11. Mentors will be expected, as a part of their stipend for mentoring and as a condition of being a mentor, to attend a meeting for a time period of no more than two (2) hours during the New Teacher Orientation program. This is intended to give both the mentor and mentee a chance to meet one another and have some understanding of the mentor-mentee program.
- 12. Mentors will maintain a record of dates and times of meetings between the mentor and mentee for the sole purpose of verifying the meetings. This record will be initialed by both the mentor and mentee when they meet. At no time will this record record any information discussed. This will be made available to the building administration each semester prior to the administrator approving the mentor's stipend.
- 13. Mentors will be given at least one class period per semester to observe and/or meet with the assigned mentee. Additional release time will be provided if mutually agreed upon by the mentor and the building administrator.
- N. If a public school academy is authorized by the District, and the teacher's contract is to

apply to the academy pursuant to MCL 380.503(4), then any provision of an academy school contract as defined in MCL 380.503 (4) affecting the wages, hours, and working conditions of employment which is inconsistent with this agreement must have written approval of the Association prior to being adopted and/or implemented.

Bargaining unit members employed in a public school academy shall not be required to perform job duties and responsibilities different than regular District teachers in similar positions.

In the event the Board of Education considers authorizing a public school academy or considers applying for a public school academy contract with another body authorized to grant such contract, the Board will so notify the Association prior to adoption or implementation to provide opportunity to negotiate its impact on the bargaining unit members.

## **ARTICLE 18:** CALENDAR

## A. Length

The Association and the Board agree to a calendar of 181.5 teacher days and 171 students days per year. If the State requirements for minimum days and hours of pupil instruction change during the lifetime of this Agreement, representatives of the Association and the Board shall meet for the purpose of bargaining the school calendar and hours of instruction. It is the intent of the parties that no additional days or hours of instruction will be scheduled other than the minimum required by the State.

## B. Compliance with 1984 PA 239

In case of emergency school closing, the Board shall endeavor to notify radio stations not later than one (1) hour prior to the time the first teachers are due to report for work and use the teacher fanout system. In the event that pupil instructional days have been cancelled due to conditions not within the control of the Board, instructional days shall be rescheduled to comply with 1984 PA 239.

The Superintendent or his/her designee will endeavor to delay the start of a school day when possible. The Superintendent or his/her designee will determine, at his discretion, when a delayed start is warranted. Class schedules and duration of classes will be determined by the administration. In no event will classes end later than 3:45 P.M.

If additional days of instruction must be scheduled to insure compliance with 1984 PA 239 then such days will be scheduled at the end of the school year and the last day of the school calendar shall be adjusted accordingly, (i.e., one half (1/2) day for students and one (1) full day for teachers).

The make up of instructional days shall only be undertaken as necessary for the school district to qualify for full state aid. In the event that the Superintendent or his/her designee directs that school remain open on any of the scheduled days when less than the required number of students are present to receive full state aid, teachers will be paid prorated additional compensation for days in excess of one hundred eighty (180) days of student instruction.

If 1984 Pa 239 is modified or repealed so as not to require rescheduling of student days, this article shall be null and void.

- C. If rescheduling of parent-teacher conferences is necessary, the Superintendent and Association President will meet and discuss the rescheduling.
- D. School Calendars

## NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 2008-2009 SCHOOL CALENDAR

Friday	Aug 22	New Teacher Orientation. Full Day for new teachers only Mentors report in the afternoon.						
Monday	Aug 25	Teacher Work Day - All teachers report for work						
Tues-Thurs	Aug 26-28	Teacher Professional Development Days						
rues muis	1 lug 20 20	No School for Students						
Friday	Aug 29	Labor Day recess - No School						
Monday	Sept 1	Labor Day recess - No School  Labor Day recess - No School						
Tuesday	Sept 2	First Student Day - Full Day for All Students						
Thursday	Oct 16	High School Parent-Teacher Conferences						
•		12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm						
Monday	Oct 20	Middle School Parent-Teacher Conferences - 12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm						
Friday	Nov 21	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students						
Monday	Nov 24	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences 12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm						
Tuesday	Nov 25	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences						
Tuesday	1107 23	12:30 - 3:30 pm						
Wednesday	Nov 26	Last day of school before Thanksgiving						
Weathesday	1107 20	Students report in morning only - Early Release						
Thu-Fri	Nov 27-28	Thanksgiving recess - No School						
Monday	Dec 1	Classes Resume						
Fri	Dec 19	Last Day before Christmas Recess.						
111	Dec 19	Full day of school at all buildings.						
Sat-Sun	Dec 20 - Jan 4	Christmas recess - No School						
Monday	Jan 5	Classes Resume						
Monday	Jan 19	Martin Luther King Birthday - No School						
Tue – Thu	Jan 20-22	Exam days High & Middle. Half days at all buildings.						
Friday	Jan 23	Teacher Work Day & End of First Semester. No Students.						
Monday	Jan 26	Start of second semester						
Sat-Wed	Feb 14-18	Mid Winter Break - No School						
Thursday	Feb 19	Classes Resume						
Thursday	March 19	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students						
Monday	March 23	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences						
Wioliday	March 25	12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm						
Tuesday	March 24	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences						
Tuesday	March 24	12:30 - 3:30 pm						
Wednesday	March 25	Middle School Parent-Teacher Conferences						
Wednesday	Maich 25	12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm						
Thursday	March 26	High School Parent-Teacher Conferences						
Thursday	March 20	12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm						
Friday	March 27	PA 25 Curriculum Workday No School all day for Students						
Thursday	April 9	Spring Break Starts - Half Day at all buildings.						
Friday	April 10	Good Friday - No School. Spring Break Starts.						
Monday	April 20	Classes Resume						
Friday	•							
•	May 8	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students						
Monday Tuo Thu	May 25	Memorial Day - No School  Even Days at High & Middle, Helf days at all buildings						
Tue-Thu	June 2-4	Exam Days at High & Middle. Half days at all buildings.						
Thursday	June 4	Last day of school for students						
Friday	June 5	Teacher Work Day - End of Second Semester						

Amended March 6, 2009

## NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 2009-2010 SCHOOL CALENDAR

Friday	Aug 28	New Teacher Orientation. Full Day for new teachers only.
3.7. 1	A 21	Mentors report in the afternoon.
Monday	Aug 31	Teacher Work Day - All teachers report for work
Tues-Thurs	Sept 1-3	Teacher Professional Development Days No School for Students
Friday	Sept 4	Labor Day recess - No School
Monday	Sept 7	Labor Day recess - No School
Tuesday	Sept 8	First Student Day - Full Day for All Students
Wednesday	Oct 21	Middle School Parent-Teacher Conferences - 12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Thursday	Oct 22	High School Parent-Teacher Conferences 12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Friday	Nov 6	Half Day for Students - Early Dismissal at all buildings
Tilday	1107 0	Half Day PA-25 Curriculum Workday for Staff
Monday	Nov 23	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences
Wionday	1107 23	12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Tuesday	Nov 24	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences
Tuesday	110V 24	12:30 - 3:30 pm
Wednesday	Nov 25	Last day of school before Thanksgiving
wednesday	1NOV 23	Students report in morning only - Early Release
Thu-Fri	Nov 26-27	
		Thanksgiving recess - No School Classes Resume
Monday	Nov 30	
Fri	Dec 18	Last Day before Christmas Recess.
C - 4 C	D = 10 I = 2	Full day of school at all buildings.
Sat-Sun	Dec 19 - Jan 3	Christmas recess - No School
Monday	Jan 4	Classes Resume
Monday	Jan 18	Martin Luther King Birthday - No School
Tue – Thu	Jan 19-21	Exam days High & Middle. Half days at all buildings.
Friday	Jan 22	Teacher Work Day & End of First Semester. No Students.
Monday	Jan 25	Start of second semester
Fri - Tues	Feb 12-16	Mid Winter Break - No School
Wednesday	Feb 17	Classes Resume
Friday	March 5	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students
Monday	March 22	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences
		12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Tuesday	March 23	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences 12:30 - 3:30 pm
Wednesday	March 24	Middle School Parent-Teacher Conferences
TP1 1	M 1.07	12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Thursday	March 25	High School Parent-Teacher Conferences 12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Thursday	April 1	Spring Break Starts - Half Day at all buildings.
Friday	April 2	Spring Break Starts. All School Buildings Closed.
Monday	April 12	Classes Resume
Friday	May 7	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students
Monday	May 31	Memorial Day - No School
Tue-Thu	June 8-10	Exam Days at High & Middle. Half days at all buildings.
Thursday	June 10	Last day of school for students
Friday	June 11	Teacher Work Day - End of Second Semester
-		(June 23, 2009)

## NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 2010-2011 SCHOOL CALENDAR

Friday	Aug 27	New Teacher Orientation. Full Day for new teachers only.
Mondov	Δυα 20	Mentors report in the afternoon.
Monday	Aug 30	Teacher Work Day - All teachers report for work
Tues-Thurs	Aug 31-Sept 2	Teacher Professional Development Days
Dai dana	G 4 2	No School for Students
Friday	Sept 3	Labor Day recess - No School
Monday	Sept 6	Labor Day recess - No School
Tuesday	Sept 7	First Student Day - Full Day for All Students
Wednesday	Oct 28	High School Parent-Teacher Conferences 12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Thursday	Oct 27	Middle School Parent-Teacher Conferences - 12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Friday	Nov 5	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students
Monday	Nov 22	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences
William	1107 22	12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Tuesday	Nov 23	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences
Tuesday	1107 23	12:30 - 3:30 pm
Wednesday	Nov 24	Last day of school before Thanksgiving
Wednesday	1107 24	Students report in morning only - Early Release
Thu-Fri	Nov 25-26	Thanksgiving recess - No School
	Nov 29	Classes Resume
Monday		
Friday	Dec 17	Last Day before Christmas Recess.
G . G	D 10 I 2	Full day of school at all buildings.
Sat-Sun	Dec 18 - Jan 2	Christmas recess - No School
Monday	Jan 3	Classes Resume
Monday	Jan 17	Martin Luther King Birthday - No School
Tue – Thu	Jan 18-20	Exam days High & Middle. Half days at all buildings.
Friday	Jan 21	Teacher Work Day & End of First Semester. No Students.
Monday	Jan 24	Start of second semester
Fri-Tue	Feb 18-22	Mid-Winter Break - No School
Wednesday	Feb 23	Classes Resume
Friday	March 11	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students
Monday	March 28	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences
		12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Tuesday	March 29	Elementary School Parent-Teacher Conferences
•		12:30 - 3:30 pm
Wednesday	March 30	Middle School Parent-Teacher Conferences
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Thursday	March 31	High School Parent-Teacher Conferences
Tharsday	Water 51	12:30 - 3:30 pm 5:00 - 8:00 pm
Sat - Sun	April 2-10	Spring Break.
Thursday	April 21	Day before Good Friday - Half Day at all buildings.
Friday	April 22	Good Friday - No School.
Monday	April 25	Classes Resume
•	-	
Friday	May 6	PA-25 Curriculum Workday – No School all day for Students
Monday	May 30	Memorial Day - No School
Tue-Thu	June 7-9	Exam Days at High & Middle. Half days at all buildings.
Thursday	June 9	Last day of school for students
Friday	June 10	Teacher Work Day - End of Second Semester
		(June 23, 2009)

## ARTICLE 19: COLA, Salary Agreement, Salary Schedule

### **Salary Agreement**

2008-09 0.0% Increase.

2009-10 2.0% Increase as follows

- a) First semester of the 2009-10 school year, the previous salary schedule will apply.
- b) December 15, 2009 One-time payment of one-half (1/2) percent to all teachers in a separate check.
- c) Beginning with the first pay date in the second semester, 2010, the 2008-09 salary schedule will be increased by one-half (1/2) percent and teachers will begin receiving a paycheck based on this salary schedule.
- d) No later than August 20, 2010, the second semester 2009-10 salary schedule will be increased by one (1) percent for payment beginning the 2010-2011 school year.

## 2010-11 2% Increase as follows:

- a) First semester of the 2010-11 school year, the August 20, 2010 salary schedule will apply.
- b) December 15, 2010 One-time payment of one-half (1/2) percent to all teachers in a separate check.
- c) Beginning with the first pay date in the second semester, 2011, the 2010-11 salary schedule will be increased by one-half (1/2) percent and teachers will begin receiving a paycheck based on this salary schedule.
- d) No later than August 20, 2011, the second semester 2010-11 salary schedule will be increased by one (1) percent for payment beginning the 2011-2012 school year.

## **2008-2009 Salary Schedule (0.0 % Inc)**

Step	Non Degree	BA	BA+20	MA	MA+30	Spec	Dr
1	\$30,884	\$36,334	\$40,258	\$41,046	\$41,941	\$42,936	\$43,784
2	\$32,647	\$38,408	\$42,412	\$43,215	\$44,126	\$45,047	\$45,975
3	\$34,553	\$40,650	\$44,679	\$45,496	\$46,413	\$47,321	\$48,256
4	\$36,803	\$43,298	\$47,413	\$48,240	\$49,172	\$50,086	\$51,027
5	\$38,729	\$45,563	\$49,719	\$50,555	\$51,471	\$52,400	\$53,341
6	\$40,749	\$47,940	\$52,152	\$52,990	\$53,907	\$54,834	\$55,771
7	\$43,085	\$50,688	\$54,966	\$55,823	\$56,754	\$57,738	\$58,673
8	\$45,028	\$52,974	\$57,308	\$58,159	\$59,091	\$60,039	\$60,968
9	\$46,976	\$55,266	\$59,615	\$60,501	\$61,439	\$62,365	\$63,304
10	\$52,779	\$62,093	\$67,845	\$69,380	\$70,303	\$71,242	\$72,171

ARTICLE 19: COLA, Salary Agreement, Salary Schedule

2009-2010 Salary Schedule (1st Semester)

Step	Non Degree	BA	BA+20	MA	MA+30	Spec	Dr
1	\$30,884	\$36,334	\$40,258	\$41,046	\$41,941	\$42,936	\$43,784
2	\$32,647	\$38,408	\$42,412	\$43,215	\$44,126	\$45,047	\$45,975
3	\$34,553	\$40,650	\$44,679	\$45,496	\$46,413	\$47,321	\$48,256
4	\$36,803	\$43,298	\$47,413	\$48,240	\$49,172	\$50,086	\$51,027
5	\$38,729	\$45,563	\$49,719	\$50,555	\$51,471	\$52,400	\$53,341
6	\$40,749	\$47,940	\$52,152	\$52,990	\$53,907	\$54,834	\$55,771
7	\$43,085	\$50,688	\$54,966	\$55,823	\$56,754	\$57,738	\$58,673
8	\$45,028	\$52,974	\$57,308	\$58,159	\$59,091	\$60,039	\$60,968
9	\$46,976	\$55,266	\$59,615	\$60,501	\$61,439	\$62,365	\$63,304
10	\$52,779	\$62,093	\$67,845	\$69,380	\$70,303	\$71,242	\$72,171

## 2009-2010 Salary Schedule (2nd Semester - 1/2% Inc.)

Step	Non Degree	BA	BA+20	MA	MA+30	Spec	Dr
1	\$31,038	\$36,516	\$40,459	\$41,251	\$42,151	\$43,151	\$44,003
2	\$32,810	\$38,600	\$42,624	\$43,431	\$44,347	\$45,272	\$46,205
3	\$34,726	\$40,853	\$44,902	\$45,723	\$46,645	\$47,558	\$48,497
4	\$36,987	\$43,514	\$47,650	\$48,481	\$49,418	\$50,336	\$51,282
5	\$38,923	\$45,791	\$49,968	\$50,808	\$51,728	\$52,662	\$53,608
6	\$40,953	\$48,180	\$52,413	\$53,255	\$54,177	\$55,108	\$56,050
7	\$43,300	\$50,941	\$55,241	\$56,102	\$57,038	\$58,027	\$58,966
8	\$45,253	\$53,239	\$57,595	\$58,450	\$59,386	\$60,339	\$61,273
9	\$47,211	\$55,542	\$59,913	\$60,804	\$61,746	\$62,677	\$63,621
10	\$53,043	\$62,403	\$68,184	\$69,727	\$70,655	\$71,598	\$72,532

2009-2010 Salary Schedule (August 20, 2010 - 1% Inc.)

Step	Non Degree	BA	BA+20	MA	MA+30	Spec	Dr
1	\$31,349	\$36,881	\$40,864	\$41,664	\$42,572	\$43,582	\$44,443
2	\$33,138	\$38,986	\$43,050	\$43,865	\$44,790	\$45,725	\$46,667
3	\$35,073	\$41,262	\$45,351	\$46,181	\$47,112	\$48,033	\$48,982
4	\$37,357	\$43,950	\$48,127	\$48,966	\$49,912	\$50,840	\$51,795
5	\$39,312	\$46,249	\$50,467	\$51,316	\$52,246	\$53,189	\$54,144
6	\$41,362	\$48,661	\$52,937	\$53,787	\$54,718	\$55,659	\$56,610
7	\$43,733	\$51,451	\$55,793	\$56,663	\$57,608	\$58,607	\$59,556
8	\$45,706	\$53,771	\$58,170	\$59,034	\$59,980	\$60,943	\$61,886
9	\$47,683	\$56,098	\$60,512	\$61,412	\$62,364	\$63,304	\$64,257
10	\$53,573	\$63,027	\$68,866	\$70,424	\$71,361	\$72,314	\$73,257

49

ARTICLE 19: COLA, Salary Agreement, Salary Schedule

2010-2011 Salary Schedule (First Semester)

Step	Non Degree	BA	BA+20	MA	MA+30	Spec	Dr
1	\$31,349	\$36,881	\$40,864	\$41,664	\$42,572	\$43,582	\$44,443
2	\$33,138	\$38,986	\$43,050	\$43,865	\$44,790	\$45,725	\$46,667
3	\$35,073	\$41,262	\$45,351	\$46,181	\$47,112	\$48,033	\$48,982
4	\$37,357	\$43,950	\$48,127	\$48,966	\$49,912	\$50,840	\$51,795
5	\$39,312	\$46,249	\$50,467	\$51,316	\$52,246	\$53,189	\$54,144
6	\$41,362	\$48,661	\$52,937	\$53,787	\$54,718	\$55,659	\$56,610
7	\$43,733	\$51,451	\$55,793	\$56,663	\$57,608	\$58,607	\$59,556
8	\$45,706	\$53,771	\$58,170	\$59,034	\$59,980	\$60,943	\$61,886
9	\$47,683	\$56,098	\$60,512	\$61,412	\$62,364	\$63,304	\$64,257
10	\$53,573	\$63,027	\$68,866	\$70,424	\$71,361	\$72,314	\$73,257

2010-11 Salary Schedule (Second Semester - 1/2% Increase)

Step	Non Degree	BA	BA+20	MA	MA+30	Spec	Dr
1	\$31,506	\$37,065	\$41,068	\$41,872	\$42,785	\$43,800	\$44,665
2	\$33,304	\$39,181	\$43,266	\$44,085	\$45,014	\$45,954	\$46,900
3	\$35,248	\$41,468	\$45,578	\$46,412	\$47,347	\$48,273	\$49,227
4	\$37,544	\$44,169	\$48,367	\$49,211	\$50,162	\$51,094	\$52,054
5	\$39,508	\$46,480	\$50,720	\$51,572	\$52,507	\$53,455	\$54,415
6	\$41,569	\$48,905	\$53,202	\$54,056	\$54,992	\$55,938	\$56,893
7	\$43,952	\$51,708	\$56,072	\$56,946	\$57,896	\$58,900	\$59,854
8	\$45,934	\$54,040	\$58,461	\$59,329	\$60,280	\$61,247	\$62,195
9	\$47,921	\$56,378	\$60,815	\$61,719	\$62,675	\$63,620	\$64,578
10	\$53,841	\$63,343	\$69,210	\$70,776	\$71,718	\$72,676	\$73,623

2010-11 Salary Schedule (Effective August 20, 2011)

Step	Non Degree	BA	BA+20	MA	MA+30	Spec	Dr
1	\$31,821	\$37,436	\$41,479	\$42,291	\$43,213	\$44,238	\$45,112
2	\$33,637	\$39,573	\$43,698	\$44,526	\$45,464	\$46,413	\$47,369
3	\$35,601	\$41,883	\$46,034	\$46,876	\$47,821	\$48,756	\$49,719
4	\$37,919	\$44,611	\$48,851	\$49,703	\$50,663	\$51,605	\$52,574
5	\$39,904	\$46,945	\$51,227	\$52,088	\$53,032	\$53,989	\$54,959
6	\$41,985	\$49,394	\$53,734	\$54,597	\$55,542	\$56,497	\$57,462
7	\$44,392	\$52,225	\$56,633	\$57,516	\$58,475	\$59,489	\$60,452
8	\$46,394	\$54,581	\$59,046	\$59,923	\$60,883	\$61,860	\$62,817
9	\$48,401	\$56,942	\$61,423	\$62,336	\$63,302	\$64,256	\$65,224
10	\$54,380	\$63,976	\$69,903	\$71,484	\$72,435	\$73,403	\$74,360

50

## A. Cost-of-Living Adjustment

1. The cost-of-living adjustment of this Agreement shall be inoperative and shall be abated for the 2008-09, 2009-10, and 2010-11 school years in lieu of the following salary agreement.

## B. Longevity Payments

1. Yearly longevity payments will be made in a lump sum no later than the first pay period in June. Each yearly payment will be made as specified in the schedule below:

11th through 14th year	\$1,000.00
15th through 19th year	\$1,100.00
20th through 24th year	\$1,300.00
25th year	\$1,600.00

C. Salary Schedule: The salary schedule for the three years of this contract shall be as outlined above.

#### D. General

- 1. Proration
- a. In the event a teacher does not complete the school year or is employed for less than the full school year, the Cost of Living Adjustment shall be prorated based upon a ratio of the number of workdays such teacher worked to One Hundred Eighty One and One-Half (181.5) work days multiplied by the cost-of-living adjustment.
- 2. Consumer Price Index Information
- a. In the event the Bureau of Labor Statistics terminates publication of the monthly Consumer Price Index information required for purposes of this provision or substantially modifies the manner of calculating such information, representatives of the Board and Local 1 agree to meet for the purpose of negotiating the terms of this cost-of-living adjustment provision. Also, if receipt by the District of Consumer Price Index information from the Bureau of Labor Statistics is delayed for reasons beyond the control of the district, payment of the cost-of-living adjustment shall be made as soon as possible following the receipt of such information.

## E. Salary

1. Starting with the 1985-86 school year, a teacher employed after the end of the first semester shall move to the next experience step on the salary schedule at the

- time of his/her anniversary date of hire. This language shall not apply to teachers hired before October 15, 1985.
- 2. The salary of every teacher shall be determined by his/her position on this salary schedule based upon his/her professional training, teaching experience and length of service in this system.
- 3. Teaching experience outside this school system may be allowed at full credit up to a maximum of ten (10) years on the salary schedule.
- 4. Adjustments for the BA+20, MA, MA+30, Specialist or equivalent, and Doctorate semester hours, will be made twice a year, before school begins and at the end of the first semester of school. Satisfactory proof must be submitted by September 15th and February 1st in the Board of Education office.
- 5. No credit will be given for hours beyond the B.A. degree unless the hours are in a planned work of study. This is to be effective as of 9-1-74. All present employees who have earned credit previous to this Agreement will be grandfathered in, and will not lose their position on the salary schedule.
- 6. On Specialist lane proof of being on an approved Doctorate (Education program which includes work equal to the minimum requirements for a Specialist Degree), must be presented in lieu of the Specialist Degree.
- 7. A teacher's daily salary shall be determined by dividing his/her annual salary by one hundred eighty-one and one-half  $(181 \frac{1}{2})$  days.
- 8. A teacher's weekly salary shall be determined by multiplying his/her daily salary by five (5).
- 9. Compensation for additional periods taught by secondary teachers shall be determined by dividing their annual salary by One Hundred Eighty One and One-Half (181.5) and dividing that result by the number of periods in the normal daily schedule, seven (7). This amount shall be added to their regular compensation.

## **Example**

\$21,934 (annual amount) divided by 181.5 (days) = \$120.84

divided by 7 periods = \$17.26 per period per day

x 181.5 days or \$3,133.42 for the year

Teachers teaching eight (8) periods instead of seven (7) would receive an adjusted annual contract of \$21,934 plus \$2,741.75 = \$24,675.75

10. Compensation for secondary teachers teaching less than a full day shall be determined by dividing the appropriate step on the salary schedule, assuming this teacher had taught full time, by One Hundred Eighty One and One-Half (181.5) and dividing that result by the number of periods in the normal schedule, seven (7). This amount shall be multiplied by the number of periods in the normal daily schedule, seven (7) and finally by the number of days, which shall be One Hundred Eighty One and One-Half (181.5) days for a year.

## **Example**

Regular Step: \$15,390

\$15,390 divided by 181.5 (days) = \$ 84.79

\$ 84.79 divided by 7 (periods)= \$ 12.11 \$ \$ 12.11 times 3 (periods) = \$ 36.33 (example assuming half schedule)

\$ 36.33 times 181.5 (days) \$ 6,593.90

- 11. The parties agree prior to ratification to verify all mathematical computations. All equations that end in .49 or less will be dropped and all equations that end in .50 or above will be raised to the next dollar.
- 12. If any salary/wage or benefit provision of this Agreement is nullified or modified by any action of any government agency, as a result of the institution or reinstitution of any form of wage and benefit controls, the parties hereto shall meet to negotiate those provisions of the Agreement affected by such government action.
- 13. Teachers of vocational/technology classes offered either at the High School or at the Trade Academy will have their compensation prorated, either increased or decreased, according to the amount of their student contact time compared to the amount of student contact time for a regular education teacher at the High School.

## ARTICLE 20: COMPENSATION - SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT

The positions listed here are not tenure positions. With the exceptions noted, all of these positions are for activities that occur after the regular school day; therefore, they are considered to be extra-curricular positions. Any or all positions may be discontinued. Any position filled and the program put into operation will continue to operate until such functions are completed on a seasonal basis. Any person employed in any coaching

assignment, unless notified otherwise by June 30th, shall continue in that assignment for another school year. Payment will be made upon submittal of a requisition, after completion of that specific function, with the exception of Driver's Education. If the Board determines to offer a sport, the Board shall establish the minimum number of participants needed for each sport. If a sport has less than the number of required participants, the Board of Education may eliminate the sport for that season or combine two teams together with an appropriate negotiated stipend.

It is hereby agreed that during this Agreement it will be the policy of the Board of Education to evaluate the performance of each coach and give this evaluation in writing before the end of the academic year. The Board retains all rights to hire and fire coaching personnel. The Board has the option to hire bargaining unit members or non-bargaining unit members into coaching positions. Two consecutive years of unsatisfactory evaluations shall be cause for termination from any coaching position. The substance of coaching evaluations shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Subsequent to the postings for the 1994-95 year, any positions which are vacant or are filled by non-bargaining unit personnel shall be posted annually. Coaching positions that have been posted for four (4) consecutive years and filled by the same non-bargaining unit person will only have to be posted at the discretion of the Board.

The percentage listed after the position will be applied to the BA scale times the years of experience of the coach in the particular sport, up to eight (8) years and in the case of class advisors, grades 9-12. Such coaching credit will not be limited to experience in one sport, but will be interchangeable. For purposes of this article the following salary schedule will be used for the duration of this contract:

Step 1	-	\$24,546
Step 2	-	\$25,947
Step 3	-	\$27,462
Step 4	-	\$29,249
Step 5	-	\$30,780
Step 6	-	\$32,387
Step 7	-	\$34,243
Step 8	-	\$35,787

#### A. Football

1.	Varsity Head Coach	11.5%
2.	Varsity Assistant Coach	9.5%
3.	Junior Varsity Coach	9.0%
4.	Assistant Jr. Varsity Coach	6.5%
5.	Freshman Coach	6.0%
6.	7th-8th Grade Coach	5.5%

#### B. Basketball

	1.	Varsity Head Coach	11.5%		
	2.	Junior Varsity Coach	10.0%		
	3.	Freshman Coach	7.0%		
	4.	8th Grade Coach	6.0%		
	5.	7th Grade Coach	6.0%		
C.	Track				
	1.	Varsity Head Coach			
	2.	7th-8th Grade Coach	6.0%		
D.	Baseba	all			
	1.	Varsity Head Coach			
	2.	Junior Varsity Coach	6.5%		
	3.	7th-8th Grade Coach	5.5%		
E.	Golf				
	1.	Varsity Head Coach	6.0%		
F.	Cross Country				
	1.	Varsity Head Coach	6.0%		
G.	Tennis	3			
	1.	Varsity Head Coach	6.0%		
H.	Wrestl	ing			
11.					
	1.	Varsity Head Coach	6.0%		
I.	Volleyball				
	1.	Varsity Head Coach	11.5%		
	2.	Junior Varsity Coach	6.0%		
	3.	7th - 8th Grade Coach	3.0%		
J.	Cheerleader Advisor				
	1.	Head Varsity	3.5%		
	2.	Assistant Varsity	3.0%		
	3.	Junior High	2.5%		

Salaries for Girls Varsity and Junior Varsity sports are to be contingent to comparable scheduling. Formula to be used "Salary divided by number of scheduled games equals pay per scheduled game."

## K. Other Special Assignments

1.	Senior Advisor	4.5%
2.	Junior Advisor	3.0%
3.	Sophomore Advisor	2.0%
4.	Freshman Advisor	2.0%
5.	Yearbook Advisor	3.5%
6.	School Newspaper	3.5%
7.	Senior Play Advisor	3.0%
8.	Junior Play Advisor	3.0%
9.	Honor Society	2.0%
10.	Student Council Advisor	3.5%
11.	BOEC Advisor	4.0%

Class advisors will receive experience credit for each year served as an advisor, regardless of grade level.

L. Special Assignments that are a part of the High School Curriculum.

In the event that the listed activities are scheduled and taught as a part of the regular high school curriculum (by a properly certified and qualified staff member), both sides agree that in order to satisfactorily complete the requirements of these positions the staff member assigned may find that there are requirements beyond the regular school day.

Therefore, in recognition of this fact, when the following activities are a part of the regular High School Schedule, it is agreed that the following positions will receive the following stipend.

Yearbook Advisor	\$625.00
High School Newspaper Advisor	\$625.00

This stipend will take effect July 1, 2007.

### M. Driver's Education

1. The hourly rate will be \$20.00. The hours are to be submitted every two (2) weeks to be paid in normal pay check)

## N. Instrumental/Vocal Music

1. Head Director 9.0%

### 2. Vocal Music

5.5%

If a teacher teaches both instrumental and vocal music, he/she shall only receive the 9.0% supplemental salary.

Instrumental and high school vocal music teachers will have their event schedule into the building principal no later than two (2) weeks after the start of school. Note: Percentage to be included in contract.

O. Homebound Teacher \$20.00 per hour

P. Assertive Discipline Position \$20.00 per hour

## Q. Attendance Incentive

1.	0 Sick days off	\$225.00
2.	1 Sick day off	\$125.00
3.	2 Sick days off	\$ 75.00

Teachers whose assignments involve personal use of their cars will be reimbursed at the same rate as administrators.

R. Compensatory Days: Any teacher who volunteers for and completes thirty (30) minutes of additional supervision each student day shall receive one (1) compensatory day for every twenty (20) days of supervision. It is understood that these days may not be taken on any non-student days. Compensatory days must be used within sixty (60) calendar days of being earned or at the teacher's option at the end of each semester he/she may be paid the current school district substitute teacher daily rate for each compensatory day. If more teachers volunteer than are needed, the building administrator will develop an equal rotating schedule for the supervision. There will be no other additional compensation time authorized outside of this Article. No compensatory day may be carried over to the next school year, and cannot be used for more than two (2) consecutive work days.

### S. Coordinators:

- 1. Athletic Coordinator will be paid a supplemental salary of 5.5% of that teachers salary. He/she will also receive 1/7th of his/her salary in lieu of released period when teaching a full day.
- 2. Special Education Coordinator will be paid a supplemental salary of 5.5% of that teachers salary. He/she will also receive 1/7th of his/her teaching salary in lieu of a released period when teaching a full day.
- 3. Vocational Education Coordinator will receive a supplemental salary of 5.5% of that teachers salary when teaching a full day.

## ARTICLE 21: COMMUNICABLE DISEASE

A. In the event the Board of Education authorizes the development or subsequent revision of Board policies with communicable diseases, the Employer will provide the Association, prior to adoption or implementation, notice and opportunity to negotiate on said policies as they impact on the working conditions and health and safety of bargaining unit members.

## ARTICLE 22: DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- A. This Agreement shall be effective as of September 1, 2008 and shall continue in effect through the 31st day of August, 2011. This Agreement shall not be extended orally and it is expressly understood that it shall expire on the date indicated.
- B. If either party desires to modify or change this Agreement, it shall, at least sixty (60) days prior to September 1, 2011, give written notice of the desire to change this Agreement.
- C. This is the entire Agreement between the parties and it cannot be added to or deleted from without the written consent of both parties.
- D. Pursuant to this article, the parties agree to extend the MEA-NEA/Local 1, NHEA Agreement, with the amendments noted, through the 31st day of August, 2011. It is expressly understood the contract shall expire on that date.

MEA-NEA LOCAL 1	BOARD OF EDUCATION NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY CHOOLS		
Michael LaBuhn, President MEA-NEA/Local 1	Karen Goodhue President		
Marcy Gerlach, President New Haven Education Association	Sue Simon Secretary		
Rick Flynn - UNISERV Director MEA-NEA/Local 1	James W. Avery, Ed.D. Superintendent of Schools		

## **APPENDIX A**

If any other company is chosen then specification for life insurance will be based on Equitable.

## **LIFE INSURANCE**

#### Death Benefit

In the event of your death from any cause, the amount of your life insurance as determined in accordance with the Schedule of Benefits, is payable to your beneficiary in a single sum or, if you desire, in installments. You may, at any time, change your beneficiary or the method of benefit payment to a payment plan then being offered by the Equitable, by means of a written notice to the Equitable. If you do not elect a method of benefit payment, your beneficiary may do so after your death. Your beneficiary may, after your death, designate a person to receive any amount, which, in the event of your beneficiary's death, would otherwise be payable to your beneficiary's estate.

## **Protection After Termination**

If you leave school employment or cease to be a member of an eligible class, your Group Life protection continues for thirty-one (31) days. During this period you can convert your Group Life Insurance without medical examination to Equitable Individual Life Insurance as explained in your Certificate.

NOTE: If a benefit becomes payable under the Group Policy after you have converted your Group Life Insurance to Individual Life Insurance, any amount paid as a death benefit under the individual policy will be considered as a payment toward the amount of the benefit payable under the Group Policy. Any premiums paid under the individual policy will be refunded to the beneficiary thereunder upon surrender of the policy.

### Protection While Disabled

If your active employment is terminated before you reach age sixty (60) and after the effective day of your insurance because of total disability from bodily injury or disease which prevents you from engaging in any occupation for compensation or profit, and if your employer ceases premium payments for your insurance, your Group Life Insurance protection will be extended at no cost to you up to the first (1st) anniversary of the date premium payments stop as long as you remain totally disabled. Your protection may be extended further, if proof of your continued total disability is submitted to the Equitable three (3) months prior to each anniversary of the date premium payments stop.

The amount of your insurance protection while you are so disabled will be the amount for which you were last insured under the Group Life Insurance Plan prior to your discontinuance of active work. This amount will be subject to the same deductions which would have applied to your insurance if you had not become disabled

Proof that you remained totally disabled until death must be submitted to the Equitable within one (1) year after the date of your death. Upon receipt of that proof, the Equitable will pay to your beneficiary the amount of your insurance protection reduced by any amount of Group Life Insurance payable as a death benefit under any other provision of the Group Policy.

Contact your employer for forms for filing proof of your total disability within six months following cessation of employment.

The Equitable will have the right to have its medical representative examine you when it may reasonably require, but after your Group Life Insurance protection has been extended for two (2) full years, not more than once a year.

This protection will be discontinued when you are no longer so disabled, fail to submit to an examination or fail to furnish required proof. You will have the same rights on the date of the discontinuance as those described above in "Protection After Termination", unless you become insured again under the Group Insurance Plan.

If you have converted your Group Life Insurance, the individual policy must be surrendered to the Equitable when proof of your total disability is first submitted. Any premiums paid under the individual policy will be returned.

## <u>APPENDIX B</u> - <u>LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING</u>

## Annexation, Consolidation, Reorganization

No bargaining unit member shall be adversely affected by a change in hours, wages, terms or conditions of employment in the existing agreement as a result of voluntary action by the Board of Education to agree to any annexation, consolidation, or other reorganization.

MEA/NEA LOCAL 1	BOARD OF EDUCATION NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS		
Luigi Battaglieri	Kenneth B. Thompson, II President		
James Munroe	James Goike, Secretary		
Judy Kamyszek, NHEA President	James Avery, Superintendent		

## **APPENDIX C - LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING**

## **Posting/Appointment of Coaches**

In resolution of pending grievances #15 and #16, the Board may post coaching positions for the 1994-95 school year. If the Board fails to reappoint a bargaining unit member into a coaching position who served in the same position in 1993-94, the Board shall pay the member the coaching stipend paid to the member for coaching said sport in 1993-94.

MEA/NEA LOCAL 1	BOARD OF EDUCATION NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS		
Luigi Battaglieri	Kenneth B. Thompson, II President		
James Munroe	James Goike, Secretary		

## APPENDIX D - LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

between the

# BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS

and

## MEA-NEA LOCAL 1, NEW HAVEN

The Board of Education of the New Haven Community Schools and the MEA-NEA Local 1, New Haven Education Association, recognize the importance of each employee pursuing an active retirement savings program and in providing sound investment alternatives to assist them in achieving their retirement savings goal. In complying with the IRS regulations regarding 403(b) plans, the Board has sought and will continue to seek input from the Association regarding the 403(b) plan document and any third party administrator adoption agreement. The parties further agree that any fees necessary to administer the 403(b) plan document will not be passed on to the members.

## FOR THE BOARD OF EDUCATION

## FOR THE ASSOCIATION

/s/ James W. Avery	/s/ Michael LaBuhn		
James Avery Ed.D., Superintendent	Michael LaBuhn, President		
	MEA-NEA Local 1		
December 18, 2008	December 18, 2008		
Date	Date		
	/s/ Marcy Gerlach		
	Marcy Gerlach, President		
	MEA-NEA Local 1, New Haven		
	December 18, 2008		
	Date		

## <u>APPENDIX E - LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING</u>

## **Days and Hours of Instruction**

In compliance with the laws regarding calendar for schools and addressing the terms in **Article 18 - Calendar**, Section A of the Master Agreement, which reinforces that "...It is the intent of the parties that no additional days or hours of instruction will be scheduled other than the minimum required by the State."

The administration will be reviewing the hours of instruction at the district buildings with the intent being to come into compliance with the current State requirement of at least-one thousand ninety eight (1098) hours of student instruction.

Both sides agree that should the days and hours requirement be changed, this letter will be null and void.

In addition, the administration and the Association have agreed to add one (1) half-day to each semester to be scheduled as a teacher work-day.

James W. Avery Ed.D.
Superintendent

Marcy Gerlach, President
New Haven Education Association

Rick Flynn, UNISERV
MEA-NEA-Local 1

Appendix F

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

between the

## BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE NEW HAVEN COMMUNITY SCHOOLS

and

MEA-NEA LOCAL 1, NEW HAVEN

The Board of Education of the New Haven Community Schools and the MEA-NEA Local 1, New Haven Education Association, recognizing that with the re-enactment of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA)/No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) (20 USC 6301 et seq.) effective January 8, 2002, highly qualified status will be required of those teachers teaching in core content areas as identified under this law by the end of the 2005-2006 school year.

To facilitate teachers becoming highly qualified under the NCLB, the parties agree to a portfolio assessment option. The portfolio assessment shall be conducted by a School Improvement Team (SIT) as authorized under NCLB. The SIT shall use the Michigan Content Area Portfolio Guidelines as listed on Attachment 1. The teacher shall complete the Portfolio Process Rubric, Attachment 2, and submit the completed form and the portfolio of supporting documentation to the SIT. If the SIT fails to indicate that competency has been demonstrated by the portfolio in all four categories listed on Attachment 2, the SIT will indicate how the portfolio must be improved in order to demonstrate competency in all four categories. A teacher may resubmit his/her revised portfolio until competency is demonstrated in all four categories.

A teacher in receipt of a completed Attachment 2, indicating that the submitted portfolio of supporting documentation demonstrates competency in all four categories, shall be deemed highly qualified under NCLB for the subject area assessed by the portfolio. The teacher shall submit an original of the Highly Qualified Teacher Report, the original of the Portfolio Process Rubric, the original of the signed Portfolio Assessment Report, and a copy of the portfolio of supporting documentation to the Superintendent.

As required by the Michigan Department of Education (MDE), the employer shall notify the MDE by a letter addressed to Dr. Frank Ciloski, Acting Supervisor of the Client Services Unit at the MDE, that the district is using the MDE Portfolio Guidelines as its assessment of highly qualified status.

The School Improvement Team shall be composed of an equal number of administrators, appointed by the Superintendent, and teachers, appointed by the President of the Association.

In the event that the laws are repealed or amended so as not to require the concept of "highly qualified," this Letter of Understanding shall be voided.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION

FOR THE BOARD OF EDUCATION

TON THE BOARD OF EBOOM TON	TOR THE ADDODIATION
Dr. James Avery, Superintendent	Richard Deneweth, President MEA-NEA Local 1
Date	Date
	Marcy Gerlach, President MEA-NEA Local 1, New Haven
	Date

## THE MICHIGAN HIGHLY QUALIFIED TEACHER CONTENT AREA PORTFOLIO GUIDELINES

The Michigan Department of Education (MDE) has developed the "Michigan Content Area Portfolio Guidelines" in compliance with the *No Child Left Behind* (NCLB) Act of 2001 in order to assure that experienced teachers of core academic subjects, who were not required to take the Michigan Test for Teacher Certification (MTTC) meet the highly qualified definition. Elementary and secondary teachers who have taken and passed the MTTC meet the NCLB highly qualified definition. Also, middle and secondary (grades 6-12) teachers who are assigned to teach their academic majors are considered highly qualified. Those assigned to teach in their minor subject area endorsements or subjects for which they have completed course credits that are equivalent to a minor or less than a minor may use the content/subject portfolio assessment as one option under the high objective uniform state standard of evaluation (HOUSSE) as a means of demonstrating that they are highly qualified.

Each local district, intermediate school district (ISD), and public school academy (PSA) must provide an assurance and documentation that all teachers are highly qualified by the end of the 2005-06 school year. To be considered highly qualified, experienced teachers certified prior to 1993 must: (www.michigan.gov/mde April 2003)

- Hold at least a bachelor's degree from an approved teacher preparation institute
- Hold a valid Michigan teaching certificate
- Be assigned to teach in the endorsement(s) listed on the teaching certificate

#### AND ONE OF THE FOLLOWING

 Hold an academic major or coursework equivalent to an academic major for each subject area in which the teacher teaches,

#### OF

Hold an advanced degree in the content area of the teaching assignment,

#### OR

Hold National Board Certification in the content area of the teaching assignment,

## OR

 Demonstrate competence in each minor subject area endorsement taught based on a portfolio assessment using the Michigan Content Area Portfolio Guidelines

## COURSEWORK EQUIVALENT TO AN ACADEMIC MAJOR

**Elementary:** 30 semester hours of academic content (not education) courses distributed among the four major disciplines: language arts, mathematics, science, and social studies.

Middle and Secondary: 30 semester hours of academic content (not education) courses.

### MICHIGAN CONTENT/SUBJECT AREA PORTFOLIO GUIDELINES

The guidelines are developed as a high objective uniform state standard of evaluation (HOUSSE) designed to award teachers for their years of teaching, professional development and services to the profession.

A teacher who selects the portfolio assessment option must have the portfolio reviewed by the local professional development assessment team/school improvement team. It is the local district's/school's responsibility to determine the appropriate composition of the local review team. The assessment team must determine the teacher's subject matter content competency based on the Michigan portfolio guidelines. The teacher must demonstrate competency in **ALL** of the following categories:

- Years of successful teaching experience based on local evaluation
- College level coursework in the content area
- Content specific professional development activities
- Service to the content area

The content specific professional development activities section of the portfolio must also include a reflection on how the combination of professional activities has been translated into improvement of teaching practice and/or classroom instructional strategies.

The portfolio, the team assessment, and the portfolio assessment report must be filed with the local district by June 30, 2006.

## MICHIGAN CONTENT AREA PORTFOLIO GUIDELINES (Pursuant to requirements mandated by Federal No Child Left Behind Legislation)

Following are the four categories in which competency must be demonstrated by teachers who select the content portfolio assessment as a means of meeting the highly qualified definition for teaching in a minor subject area endorsement. Each content/subject area portfolio must be reviewed by the local professional development review team/school improvement team.

## **Teaching Experience**

The review must be based on a maximum of the most recent five years of successful teaching experience as evidenced by documentation of local employment history and current status. Teaching experience must be in the content/subject area.

## **College Level Coursework in the Content Area**

Must be content specific or related to the subject area endorsement held on the Michigan teaching certificate. General education courses should not be considered.

## **Content Specific Professional Development Activities**

Must be content specific to the endorsement and may include the following activities:

- Served on a committee that developed, selected or evaluated content standards
- Served on a committee that aligned local content standards with state standards
- Served on a committee to develop, validate or evaluate content assessments
- Participation at local, regional, or state professional development seminars or workshops
- Completion of the portfolio assessment for National Board Certification
- Participation in an action research study group
   Serve as a content presenter at an educational conference.

**NOTE**: Some professional development activities may be interchangeable with service to the content area, but cannot be used as both.

#### Service to the Content Area

Must be content specific to the endorsement and may include the following activities:

- Served as a Department Chair or team leader
- Served as a Mentor teacher
- Served as a cooperating teacher for a student teacher
- Served as an officer in a regional, state, or national professional content organization
- Served as a content instructor at an Institute of Higher Education
- Served as a recognized content specialist at the district level
- Served as a National Board of Professional Teaching Standards assessor

#### HIGH OBJECTIVE UNIFORM STATE-STANDARD OF EVALUATION

## RECORD OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT FOR TEACHERS TO MEET NCLB HIGHLY QUALIFIED REQUIREMENTS

#### **GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS:**

This document is to be used to determine whether a teacher meets the high objective uniform state-standard of evaluation (HOUSSE) as part of the process for identifying a highly qualified teacher (defined in Section 9101 of the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001). Record all professional development activities that are content related and aligned to the district/building school improvement plan for improving student performance. The teacher must also have an individual professional development plan that is approved by the local school improvement team on file with the employing school district. Professional development activities must be within the designated three (3) year time period (September 1, 2003 – June 30, 2006) and recorded by date, title, purpose addressed and in hour increments. The form should be submitted to the Superintendent/chief executive office and kept on file in case of an audit.

## THIS FORM SHOULD BE RETAINED BY THE SCHOOL DISTRICT/SCHOOL. DO NOT RETURN THIS FORM TO THE MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Name of Teacher:	S	ocial Security #:	
Name of School District Whe	ere Employed:		
Name of Building Where Ass	signed:		
Number of Years as a Contra	actual Teacher:		
Number of Years with Currer	nt School District:		
Current School Year: 20	- 20		
CONTENT	SPECIFIC PROFESSIONAL	DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES	3
DATE	TITLE/ACTIVITY	PURPOSE ADDRESSED	NUMBER OF HOURS ENGAGED
Signature of Teacher:		Date:	
Signature of School District A	Authority:	Date:	

## INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING THE MICHIGAN HIGHLY QUALIFIED TEACHER CONTENT AREA RUBRIC

The Michigan Department of Education (MDE) has developed the "Michigan Content Area Rubric" in compliance with the *No Child Left Behind* (NCLB) Act of 2001 in order to assure that experienced teachers who were not required to take the Michigan Test for Teacher Certification (MTTC) meet the highly qualified definition. Elementary and secondary teachers who have taken and passed the MTTC meet the NCLB highly qualified definition.

Each local district, intermediate school district (ISD), and public school academy (PSA) must provide an assurance and documentation that all teachers are highly qualified by the end of the 2005-06 school year. To be considered highly qualified experienced teachers must:

- Hold at least a bachelor's degree from an approved teacher preparation institution
- Hold a valid Michigan teaching certificate
- Be assigned to teach in the endorsement(s) listed on the teaching certificate

#### AND ONE OF THE FOLLOWING

 Complete an academic major or coursework equivalent to an academic major for each subject area in which the teacher teaches (Coursework equivalent to an academic major):

**Elementary:** 30 semester hours of academic content (not education) courses distributed among the four major disciplines: language arts, mathematics, science, and social studies.

Middle: 30 semester hours of academic content (not education) courses.

## OR

Hold an advanced degree in the content area of the teaching assignment

#### OR

Hold National Board Certification in the content area of the teaching assignment

#### OR

 Achieve 100 points or more on the "Michigan Content Area Rubric." Each Teacher must have points gained in all four areas of the rubric, regardless of the final total points.

## **MICHIGAN CONTENT AREA RUBRIC**

The rubric is a high objective uniform state standard of evaluation (**HOUSSE**) designed to award teachers for their years of teaching, professional development and service to the profession. If a teacher does not meet the highly qualified requirements for each endorsement based on academic college course work or National Board Certification, the rubric acts as an alternative means to demonstrate the federally mandated content requirements.

Each teacher must sign an assurance statement to verify to the local district, ISD, PSA or MDE that the information being documented in accurate. Teachers should keep a copy of the rubric(s) and supporting documentation in their own files and submit the original forms to the local district, ISD, or PSA Superintendent or chief school administrator to place in their personnel file. This form must be readily available in case of an audit request. Misrepresentation or falsification of information could result in suspension or revocation of the teaching certificate.

# New Haven Community Schools HOUSSE Content Area Rubric

(Pursuant to requirements mandated by Federal No Child Left Behind Legislation)

NAME:	
EMPLOYING SCHOOL DISTRICT:	_
TO BE COMPLETED FOR EACH SUBJECT AREA ENDORSEMENT	
Core Academic/Subject Area being assessed	
<del></del>	

## **MUST INCLUDE ATTACHMENTS 1 AND 2 Where Appropriate**

1. Years of Teaching Experience	2. College Level Course Work in the Content Area	
Experience must be in the endorsement/subject area/content area	<ul> <li>Must be Content Specific to the endorsement:</li> <li>A 3 hour content course equals 18 points</li> <li>Some education coursework may be appropriate, if the course balances content and pedagogy.)</li> <li>List Course Titles: <ul> <li>i.e., Calculus II, 4 credits= 24 points</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	
Attach Artifacts: (3 consecutive lesson plans based upon the Michigan Curriculum Framework, examples of student work from the lessons, examples of assessment of the lessons, etc.)  Attach: Copy of Assignment Notice and/or evaluations that demonstrate content assignment and supporting documentation.	* Attach Transcript Attach Artifacts: 3 consecutive lesson plans, based on the MI Curriculum Framework, examples of student work from the lessons, and examples of assessment of the lessons.	
10 points per year- maximum 50 points	6 points per credit hour	
# Years:	# Semester Cr. Hours:	
TOTAL POINTS:	TOTAL POINTS:	

Mandated by Federal No Child Left Behind Legislation \*List of examples in not intended to be interpreted as all-inclusive.

3. Content Specific Professional Development Activities *	4. Service to the Content Area *	
Must be Content Specific to the endorsement, include attachment 1 for any of the following:	Must be Content Specific to the endorsement include attachment 1 for any of the following:	
<ul> <li>Completed portfolio for National Board Certification (8 points—Attach verification)</li> <li>One point per six hour day, up to eight points, for any of the following:         <ul> <li>Served on a committee that developed, selected or evaluated content standards</li> <li>Served on a committee that aligned local content standards with state standards</li> <li>Served on a committee to develop, validate or evaluate content assessments</li> <li>Participation at local, regional, state or pational professional conferences/sominars/</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>6 Points for the following:         <ul> <li>Officer in a regional, state, or national professional content organization</li> <li>Content instructor at an Institute of Higher</li></ul></li></ul>	
national professional conferences/seminars/ workshops - Participation in Action Research or study groups	<ul> <li>Department chair or team leader</li> <li>Mentor teacher</li> <li>Cooperating teacher for student teacher</li> </ul>	
- Other:     • attach detailed description  Attach: MDE Professional Development Log Attach: Attach a reflection on how your professional development has been translated into improvement of teaching practice and/or instructional strategies.	4 Points for the following:  - Current membership in a regional, state, or national professional content organization  Attach appropriate documentation (membership card, dues receipt, pay stub, thank you letter from administrator, etc.)	
Up to 8 points per year per documented activity (5 year recency limit – 40 maximum possible)	Up to 6 points per year per documented service (5 year recency limit – 30 maximum possible)	
# Activities:	# Services:	
TOTAL POINTS:	TOTAL POINTS:	
	GRAND TOTAL:	

Mandated by Federal No Child Left Behind Legislation \*List of examples in not intended to be interpreted as all-inclusive.

## PORTFOLIO ASSESSMENT REPORT

Full Name (as it appears on the Michigan Teaching Certificate)		Content Area		
Social Security Number		() Home Telephone		
Current Home Address	City	State	Zip	
Place of Employment (District)		Building		
I hereby certify that the above mentioned tea competence for the content area stated above defined in the federal legislation, <i>No Child Legislation</i> .	ve and has been deemed	•		
Signature of Teacher	teacher/sch	Signature of professional development teacher/school improvement team Chairperson		
	_	of professional develop nool improvement tear		
		ure of professional development r/school improvement team		
		of professional develop nool improvement tear		

<u>Misrepresentation or falsification of information may result in</u> <u>suspension or revocation of the teaching certificate</u>

PLEASE SUBMIT THIS FORM TO YOUR LOCAL DISTRICT SUPERINTENDENT OR CHIEF ADMINISTRATOR BY JUNE 30, 2006.

Mandated by Federal No Child Left Behind Legislation